Syracuse University

SURFACE at Syracuse University

Theses - ALL

11-7-2022

Living in the Fast Lane: The Role of Temporal Processing in ADHD Risk-taking Behaviors

Ashley Schiros Syracuse University

Follow this and additional works at: https://surface.syr.edu/thesis

Part of the Psychology Commons

Recommended Citation

Schiros, Ashley, "Living in the Fast Lane: The Role of Temporal Processing in ADHD Risk-taking Behaviors" (2022). *Theses - ALL*. 654. https://surface.syr.edu/thesis/654

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by SURFACE at Syracuse University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses - ALL by an authorized administrator of SURFACE at Syracuse University. For more information, please contact surface@syr.edu.

Abstract

Background: Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) is a neurodevelopmental disorder, prevalent in the college student population, that is associated with temporal processing deficits and functional impairments, namely engagement in risky behaviors (ERB; e.g., binge drinking). An existing theoretical framework purposes that aberrant temporal processing and subjective experience of time passing slowly, experienced in individuals with a fast internal clock (e.g., individuals with ADHD), increases the likelihood of ERB. The primary aim of this project is to improve our understanding of the relationship between objective temporal processing deficits and the subjective experience of time passage among people with elevated ADHD symptoms.

Method: The present study used the Wittmann and Paulus (2008) theoretical framework to examine (a) relationships between objective and subjective temporal processing and ADHD symptoms and (b) associations between these variables and ERB. A novel measure of temporal processing (the Time Management and Estimation Scale, TiME) was revised from a pilot study and assessed via factor analysis and tested for reliability and validity to be used as a predictor variable in subsequent analyses. College student participants (N=215) completed measures of current ADHD symptoms, objective measures of temporal processing, ERB, the TiME, and relevant covariates (e.g., delay aversion, impulsivity). Linear regressions analyzed the associations between ADHD symptoms, objective temporal processing, and subjective (self-report) temporal processing, and negative binomial regressions analyzed the associations between these variables and ERB.

Results: Factor analysis indicated a four-factor structure of the TiME. The TiME demonstrated good reliability to be used in subsequent analyses, but validity was only partially established for the TiME. Concurrent validity with the TiME and procrastination, but not objective measures of temporal processing or ADHD, was established. Overall, objective and subjective measures of temporal processing were not significantly associated with ADHD symptoms. ADHD symptom severity and temporal processing self-report were significantly associated with greater engagement in academic risk behaviors (e.g., missing class, not completing assignments). Time estimation accuracy was associated with lower engagement in risky sexual behavior (e.g., condomless sex) and aggressive behavior (e.g., hitting someone). No other significant associations were found between the predictor variables and ERB. The interaction between ADHD symptoms and subjective temporal processing was not associated with ERB.

Discussion: The present study established preliminary evidence for the reliability of a novel selfreport measure of temporal processing, yet there was a lack of concurrent validity evidence supporting associations between ADHD symptoms and subjective and objective temporal processing skills in college students. Objective time estimation accuracy was associated with decreased engagement in sexual or aggressive risky behaviors. Future research should continue to investigate if temporal processing deficits are present in college students with ADHD and clinically significant impairments associated with these deficits.

Keywords: ADHD, attention deficit / hyperactivity disorder, time perception, temporal processing, risky behaviors

Living in the Fast Lane: The Role of Temporal Processing in ADHD Risk-taking Behaviors

Ashley Schiros

B.S., Utica University, 2019

Thesis

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science in Psychology

Syracuse University

December 2022

Copyright © Ashley Schiros 2022

All Rights Reserved

Acknowledgements

I would like to acknowledge and thank Dr. Antshel for his mentorship and service on my thesis defense committee. I would also like to thank Dr. Gellis, Dr. Russo, and Dr. Woolf-King for taking the time to serve on my thesis committee and provide feedback.

Abstract	i
ADHD in College Students	1
The Triple Pathway Theory of ADHD	2
The Temporal Processing Pathway	4
Temporal Processing Theory	5
Temporal Processing in ADHD	6
Risky Behaviors in ADHD	9
Clinical Significance of Temporal Processing Deficits	12
Procrastination	14
Existing Time Questionnaires	15
Purpose of the Present Study	
Methods	19
Participants	
Procedure	
Measures	
ADHD Symptoms	
Objective Temporal Processing	
Delay Aversion	
Inhibitory Control	
Subjective Experience of Time	
Risky Behaviors	
Procrastination	
Depression, Anxiety, and Stress	
Demographics/Background	
TiME Pilot Testing and Development	
Initial Item Pool Development	
Pilot Testing Results	
Revising Item Pool	
Selecting Validity Constructs	
Data Analytic Plan	
Power Analyses	32
Pre-Analytic Data Management	

Table of Contents

Factor Structure Analyses Primary Analyses	34 35
Results	36
Factor Analysis	36
Hypothesis 1: TiME will be a reliable and valid self-report measure of temporal processing	g. 37
Hypothesis 2: Greater ADHD severity will be associated with greater objective temporal processing deficits and a subjective experience of time passing slowly	39
Hypothesis 3a: Objective temporal processing deficits and a subjective experience of time passing more slowly will be associated with greater ERB	40
Hypothesis 3b: ADHD severity will exacerbate the relationship between the subjective experience of time passing slowly and ERB	41
Discussion	41
Supported Hypotheses TiME Reliability and Validity ADHD, Subjective Temporal Processing, and Risky Academic Behaviors Objective Time Estimation and Risky Aggressive and Sexual Health Behaviors	42 42 43 44
Unsupported Hypotheses TiME Concurrent and Discriminant Validity ADHD and Temporal Processing ADHD and TiME Interaction on Risky Behaviors	45 46 47 49
Clinical Implications Utility of the TiME Temporal Processing Deficits May Be Less Pronounced in College Students	<i>50</i> 50 51
Limitations and Future Directions Continued Validation of TiME and Ecological Validity of Temporal Processing Online versus In-person Research Measurement of ADHD ADHD-related Cognitive Processes and Temporal Processing	<i>51</i> 51 52 53 54
Conclusion	55
Tables and Figures	56
Table 1	56
Table 2	57
Table 3	58
Table 4	59
Table 5	60

Table 6	61
Table 7	62
Table 8	64
Table 9	65
Table 10	66
Table 11	67
Table 12	69
Figure 1	
Appendices: TiME Pilot Testing and Measures	71
Appendix I: Time Management and Estimation (TiME) Scale Initial Item Pool	
Appendix II: Initial TiME Factor Analysis Steps	
Appendix III: Initial TiME Factor Analysis Results	
Appendix IV: Revising TiME Item Pool	
Appendix V: ADHD Adult Self-report Scale	
Appendix VI: Quick Delay Discounting	
Appendix VII: UPPS-P Scale	
Appendix VIII: Time Management and Experience Scale	80
Appendix IX: Tuckman Procrastination Scale	81
Appendix X: Cognitive Appraisal of Risky Events	82
Appendix XI: Demographics	83
References	
N \$ \$ 7794	110
Jurriculum vitae	110

Living in the Fast Lane: The Role of Temporal Processing in ADHD Risk-taking Behaviors

Attention deficit / hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is a neurodevelopmental disorder characterized by elevated levels of inattention and hyperactivity/impulsivity (Klein et al., 2012; Wood et al., 2021). ADHD is associated with impairments in temporal processing (Nejati & Yazdani, 2020; Zheng et al., 2020) as well as increased engagement in risky behaviors (ERB) (Pollak et al., 2019). ADHD is a highly heterogenous and prevalent disorder, with an estimated 5 - 9.1% prevalence in the general United States child population (Danielson et al., 2018; Visser et al., 2014). Although there is a long history of interest in ADHD, there is still much to be elucidated about temporal processing in ADHD (Weissenberger et al., 2021), the subjective experience of time in ADHD (Weissenberger et al., 2019). This study aims to improve our understanding of these associations.

What follows is a review of the current literature on the heterogeneity of ADHD including the temporal processing pathway, the variety of risky behaviors (RBs) that are highly correlated with ADHD, a theoretical framework that may explain ERB as a function of aberrant temporal processing in ADHD, and the importance of examining these aspects of ADHD in the college student population.

ADHD in College Students

Once considered to be a childhood-delimited disorder that subsides in adulthood (Hill & Schoener, 1996), more recent literature has detailed the persistence of ADHD symptoms and related impairments into college-aged students. There estimated prevalence of ADHD in the college student population is between 2-11% prevalence (American College Health Association, 2020; DuPaul et al., 2009), and one-quarter of all college students receiving campus disability

services have an ADHD diagnosis (DuPaul et al., 2009). Similar to childhood ADHD, ADHD in college students is associated with core symptoms of inattention and hyperactivity/impulsivity as well as associated features of emotion dysregulation and executive dysfunction (DuPaul et al., 2009; Dvorsky & Langberg, 2019a). Importantly, college students with ADHD exhibit functional impairments that include poor academic performance (Arnold et al., 2020; Murphy & Barkley, 2007; Weyandt et al., 2013), occupational difficulties (Goffer et al., 2020), greater psychosocial impairments (Nugent & Smart, 2014; Weyandt & Dupaul, 2008), and a widespread pattern of ERB (Nugent & Smart, 2014). The high prevalence of ADHD in the college population and wide range of significant functional impairments necessitate increased focus on the processes underlying ADHD in college students.

ADHD can be considered both dimensionally (e.g., measurement of ADHD symptoms/characteristics on a continuous scale) and categorically (e.g., ADHD or not ADHD). The use of a dimensional model to ADHD has many merits in research as it permits a more nuanced consideration of the relationships between ADHD symptoms and other study variables (Marcus & Barry, 2011). Because of its ability to capture ADHD on a continuum, some in the field of ADHD research recommend use of the dimensional model in studies (Elton et al., 2014; Marcus & Barry, 2011). In addition to utilizing a dimensional model to study the heterogeneity of college students with ADHD, the Triple Pathway Theory of ADHD (Sonuga-Barke et al., 2010) offers a theoretical basis to understanding the heterogeneity of ADHD in college students.

The Triple Pathway Theory of ADHD

The Triple Pathway Theory of ADHD posits that there are three main pathways that contribute to the heterogeneity of ADHD: the delay averse pathway, the inhibitory control pathway, and the temporal processing pathway (Sonuga-Barke et al., 2010). The delay averse pathway refers to individual responses towards waiting for rewards (e.g., individuals with ADHD exhibit an aversion towards waiting for rewards) (Sonuga-Barke, 2003). The inhibitory control pathway refers to the ability to withhold a prepotent response, and ADHD-related deficits in this pathway are denoted by difficulty in suppressing behaviors or responses (Sonuga-Barke, 2003). The temporal processing pathway refers to one's ability to perceive the passage of time (e.g., individuals with ADHD over-estimate time intervals, indicative of the subjective experience of time passing more slowly) (Sonuga-Barke et al., 2010). Although deficits in these three pathways are common in ADHD (de Zeeuw et al., 2012), delay aversion, inhibitory control, and temporal processing are clearly distinct constructs. According to the Triple Pathway Theory, each of these three domains represent a unique neuropsychological deficit and etiology of ADHD (Sonuga-Barke et al., 2010).

Though possible to display impairments in multiple pathways, which is indicative of greater ADHD severity and functional impairments, the majority of individuals with ADHD exhibit deficits in only one of the three pathways (de Zeeuw et al., 2012; Sonuga-Barke et al., 2010). Since the conception of the Triple Pathway Theory, there has been empirical evidence that delay aversion, inhibitory control deficits, and temporal processing deficits are distinct in ADHD via performance on cognitive tasks measuring these constructs (Coghill et al., 2014; Fair et al., 2012; Sjöwall et al., 2013) and neuroimaging data showing discrete neural underpinnings for the three pathways (Stevens et al., 2018). Despite the strong empirical support for the Triple Pathway Theory of ADHD (de Zeeuw et al., 2012; Fair et al., 2012; Stevens et al., 2018), research has historically focused far more on the delay averse and inhibitory control pathways and much less on the temporal processing pathway (Weissenberger et al., 2021).

The delay averse and inhibitory control pathways are directly related to dimensions of impulsivity – a defining characteristic of ADHD – and were, thus, identified earlier than temporal processing pathway in a predecessor of the Triple Pathway Theory (Sonuga-Barke, 2003). However, temporal processing deficits have been consistently reported in ADHD, and a recent review of the literature argued that temporal processing impairments should be recognized as a focal symptom of ADHD, alongside inattention and hyperactivity/impulsivity (Weissenberger et al., 2021). There is an increased interest in the prevalence and topography of temporal processing deficits in ADHD (Weissenberger et al., 2021), yet the ecological manifestations of these deficits and their clinical relevance are presently far less well known.

The Temporal Processing Pathway

The temporal processing pathway of ADHD broadly refers to the way individuals perceive time (Sonuga-Barke et al., 2010). Temporal processing is a multifaceted construct that includes the estimation of time intervals, discrimination between different time intervals, reproduction of time, temporal self-regulation (e.g., the ability to regulate behavior to manage time), and the subjective experience of time (e.g., how subjectively fast time feels to be passing) (Grondin, 2010). Indeed, temporal processing is a fascinating and complex construct, and the importance of temporal processing is underscored by the centrality of clock time in today's society (e.g., appointments are scheduled for a particular *time*, strict *time* deadlines, managing *time* throughout the day). Aberrant temporal processing is thought to have broad implications for psychopathology (Moreira et al., 2016; Paasche et al., 2019; Zheng et al., 2020) and negatively impacts functioning in everyday situations that require time management skills (Houghton et al., 2011; Labrell et al., 2016). For example, procrastination is an everyday behavioral act that relates to inefficient time management (among other processes, such as intentional delay of a task),

which is contingent on completing work by a time-oriented deadline, and thus is related to temporal processing abilities (Francisco et al., 2013). (These clinical and ecological implications of time perception will be discussed in greater detail in a subsequent section below.)

Temporal Processing Theory

A well accepted theoretical model for temporal processing is the attentional-gate model. The attentional-gate model describes temporal processing as a complex process that involves an internal clock (or "pacemaker"), attention, working memory, and decision making skills (Block, 1990; Zakay & Block, 1997). The basis of the attentional-gate theory is derived from the wellaccepted scalar expectancy theory (SET) of temporal processing behavior; SET proposes that individuals have an internal clock that generates pulses akin to the ticks of a mechanical clock (Gibbon, 1977). A stimulus that signals the start of a time interval leads to the opening of a gating mechanism to allow the pulses of the internal clock (which represent elapsed time) to come into consciousness skills. When the gating mechanism opens, the pulses are stored in an accumulator, which relies on working memory skills. The accumulation of pulses is processed in working memory and denote elapsed time skills.

The attentional-gate model importantly expands the SET by including an attentional explanation for the gating mechanism (Block, 1990; Zakay & Block, 1997). Stimuli that elicit selective attention to time are more likely to open the gating mechanism to allow for the time pulses of the internal clock to be consciously monitored and create an explicit representation of time duration skills (Block, 1990; Zakay & Block, 1997). For example, an 80-minute in-class exam that must be completed before the end of the class period would draw a college student's attention to time. Yet, many behaviors or events do not necessitate a realistic representation of time (e.g., eating dinner, a party on a Friday night), and therefore, do not open the gates even

though the internal clock in still functioning at an unconscious level. As such, the perception of time can be thought of as a trait-construct in terms of the base-speed of our internal clock, though states (e.g., emotional experiences, stimulating activities, conscious attention drawn to time) can open our attentional gates and influence time perception (Di Lernia et al., 2018).

Temporal Processing in ADHD

The integral role of working memory and attention in temporal processing highlights the multidimensional nature of temporal processing (Grondin, 2010) and predicts the occurrence temporal processing deficits in ADHD. Time perception is assessed via tasks that generally fall into one of two paradigms: 1) the prospective paradigm, where the participant is informed that they must make a temporal judgement prior to the presentation of the stimulus (e.g., participants are first instructed that they will be hear a sound and will be asked to estimate its duration, then a sound is presented and they are asked to estimate how long they heard the sound for), or 2) the retrospective paradigm, where the presentation of the stimulus precedes the instructions to make a temporal judgement (e.g., a sound is presented and, after the sound has played, participants are asked to estimate how long they heard the sound for) (Block et al., 2018).

The prospective paradigm requires selective attention to open the gating mechanism as the explicit task instructions prime the individual to estimate, discriminate, or reproduce a time interval (Matthews & Meck, 2016). Attentional deficits are a core feature of ADHD, and greater levels of inattentive symptoms are correlated with greater variability and inaccuracy on prospective temporal processing tasks (Hurks & Hendriksen, 2011). Working memory is implicated in the retrospective paradigm because the explicit cue to estimate or reproduce a time interval is presented following the stimulus (Zakay & Block, 2004). College students with ADHD display significant working memory deficits (Gropper & Tannock, 2009), and performance on working memory tasks and processing speed has been positively correlated with performance on retrospective temporal processing tasks in the ADHD population (Barkley & Fischer, 2019; Walg et al., 2017).

Temporal processing impairments in ADHD are noted across the lifespan and in multiple domains and task types, including duration discrimination (Smith et al., 2002; Valko et al., 2010; Yang et al., 2007), time estimation (Zheng et al., 2020), time reproduction (Nejati & Yazdani, 2020), and everyday time management (Houghton et al., 2011). Cognitive tasks to measure time perception in ADHD typically use auditory stimuli (e.g., auditory time reproduction where an original tone is presented and then a second tone starts and the participant must stop the tone when it lasts for the same duration as the original tone); however, these tasks can also be presented with visual stimuli or involve a motor component (Toplak et al., 2006). Although not yet investigated in college students, higher time discrimination thresholds are seen in children and adults with ADHD, such that they need a greater temporal duration difference to be able to perform accurately on duration discrimination tasks (Smith et al., 2002; Valko et al., 2010; Yang et al., 2007). On tasks of time estimation, individuals with ADHD provide larger and more variable estimations of time (Barkley et al., 2001; Prevatt et al., 2011; Smith et al., 2002; Sonuga-Barke et al., 1998; Walg et al., 2017). Individuals with ADHD commit more errors on time reproduction tasks, and these time reproductions tend to be shorter compared to the actual time duration (Barkley et al., 1997, 2001; Barkley & Fischer, 2019; Smith et al., 2002; Tas Dölek et al., 2021).

Recently, two meta-analyses concluded that the temporal processing deficits in ADHD are persistent, regardless of the modality of stimuli (e.g., auditory, visual) or the task type (e.g., time estimation, time reproduction) (Nejati & Yazdani, 2020; Zheng et al., 2020). Individuals with ADHD consistently commit more errors on temporal processing tasks, over-estimate time intervals, and under-reproduce time intervals (Nejati & Yazdani, 2020; Zheng et al., 2020). Age was shown to moderate temporal processing deficits in youth with ADHD, such that older adolescents with ADHD demonstrated less temporal processing deficits compared to children (Zheng et al., 2020). However, errors in time reproduction and estimation persist into adulthood, even in cases where ADHD symptoms have largely abated (Barkley & Fischer, 2019; Prevatt et al., 2011; Valko et al., 2010). Interestingly, the effects of stimulant medication, the most common medication treatment for ADHD, on temporal processing impairments is inconsistent. Some studies report that methylphenidate reduces variability on time estimation, reproduction, and tapping tasks (Rubia et al., 2003; Toplak et al., 2006) whereas others find no effect of ADHD medication on temporal processing (Barkley et al., 1997; Hurks & Hendriksen, 2011).

Despite the evidence in child and adult samples, to date only one study has examined time perception in college students with ADHD (Prevatt et al., 2011). Prevatt and colleagues (2011) found that college students with ADHD over-estimate time intervals and are less accurate on time estimation tasks compared to their non-ADHD peers. The findings from Prevatt and colleagues (2011) align with the general pattern of temporal processing deficits seen in ADHD, yet more research is needed to solidify the existence and pattern of temporal processing deficits in college students with ADHD.

In sum, across the lifespan, individuals with ADHD tend to display greater variability and less accuracy on temporal processing tasks and, more specifically, over-estimate and under-reproduce time intervals. This pattern of over-estimation and under-reproduction of time intervals signifies that individuals with ADHD have a faster internal clock – indicative of the subjective experience of time passing more slowly (Coghlan, 2009; Rubia et al., 2009). The

leading ADHD theory, the Triple Pathway Theory, suggests that temporal processing deficits like those noted above are etiologically relevant to ADHD and the inherent heterogeneity of the condition. However, despite all of the above, temporal processing deficits remain vastly understudied relative to the other two ADHD pathways (delay aversion, inhibitory control), especially in college students.

Likewise, the current gold-standard for assessing temporal processing is cognitive tasks administered in a clinic or research setting (Block et al., 2018). In fact, despite the existence of scales designed to assess the subjective experience of time, *no* extant studies have assessed this dimension of temporal processing in college students with ADHD (Weissenberger et al., 2021). A reliable and valid subjective self-report measure of temporal processing would help further temporal processing research and allow for greater clinical utility via enhanced feasibility. Better understanding the subjective experience of time in ADHD is an imperative step to elucidating how cognitive temporal processing deficits in ADHD impact the everyday experience of time passing and the real-world implications of atypical time perception in ADHD (Di Lernia et al., 2018), including difficulties with meeting deadlines, managing busy schedules, and potentially ERB. The present study is an important incremental first step in this larger programmatic line of research.

Risky Behaviors in ADHD

In addition to temporal processing deficits, individuals with ADHD exhibit a greater likelihood of ERB. RBs are behaviors that, despite a degree of uncertainty in their outcome, have an increased probability of undesirable or harmful consequences (Boyer, 2006). Examples include binge drinking (i.e., ≥ 4 [women] or ≥ 5 [men] drinks over two-hours) (Linden-Carmichael & Lanza, 2018), condomless sex, physical aggression and sex while intoxicated. Although there is significant heterogeneity in these RBs, each is conceptually linked by the common knowledge that these behaviors pose serious risk in the future (e.g., binge drinking contributes to poor health outcomes), but are also associated with potential reinforcement in the present (e.g., relief from stress when drinking alcohol).

There is substantial evidence in the literature that ADHD is associated with a wide range of ERB throughout the lifetime (Shoham et al., 2019). The transition to college and the developmental period of young adulthood (i.e., age 18-25) is associated with a particularly high rate of ERB in both the general and ADHD populations compared to other developmental periods (Maggs, 1997). College students experience greater autonomy, less parental supervision, and more exposure to similar aged peers. These contextual factors contribute to an increase in ERB during this developmental period (Fromme et al., 1993). Likewise, despite knowledge of potential risks, college students with (Shoham et al., 2016, 2020) and without ADHD (Fromme et al., 1997) both overvalue the potential benefits of ERB, making them most susceptible to ERB. Because individuals with ADHD exhibit increased ERB compared to the general population across the lifetime (Pollak et al., 2019; Shoham et al., 2019) and college students engage in more RBs compared to other life stages (Maggs, 1997), young adult college students with ADHD – the proposed sample for this study – may be at a particularly increased risk for ERB.

One specific RB associated with ADHD that may be of particular concern for college students is problematic alcohol use (e.g., binge drinking, drinking and concurrently using substances). College students with ADHD are significantly more likely to binge drink than college students without ADHD, with research finding a 40-70% greater occurrence of binge drinking in students with ADHD (Baker et al., 2012; Garcia et al., 2020; Mochrie et al., 2020).

Compared to college students without ADHD, those with ADHD are more likely to use alcohol and other substances – especially cannabis – at the same time (Baker et al., 2012; Petker et al., 2021). Importantly, college students with ADHD are also more likely to experience negative alcohol-related consequences, including driving while intoxicated and engaging in unplanned and/or unprotected sex while intoxicated, compared to those without ADHD (Elmore et al., 2018).

Engaging in sexual behaviors that confer greater risks (e.g., condomless sex, sex while intoxicated, casual sex) of poor sexual health outcomes (e.g., sexually transmitted infections [STIs]) is another risky behavior of particular concern to college students with ADHD. Earlier debut of sexual activity, increased occurrence of condomless sex, sex while intoxicated, and greater number of past sexual partners are correlated with ADHD symptoms in adolescents and young adults (Berry et al., 2020; Flory et al., 2006; Huggins et al., 2015; Isaksson et al., 2018). College students with ADHD report greater prevalence of STIs compared to college students without ADHD (Rohacek et al., 2022). Overall, adolescents and young adults with ADHD engage in more sexual behaviors that are likely to confer risk (Berry et al., 2020; Flory et al., 2006; Huggins et al., 2015; Isaksson et al., 2018) and exhibit poorer sexual health (Argenyi & James, 2021; Rohacek et al., 2022) compared to those without ADHD.

One final, notable risky behavior relevant to ADHD in college students is aggressive behavior. Compared to college students without ADHD, those with ADHD are more likely to engage in confrontational aggression (e.g., verbal arguments, physical alterations) in social situations (Weyandt & DuPaul, 2006; Weyandt & Dupaul, 2008), aggressive driving (Richards et al., 2006), and criminal or delinquent activities (Pratt et al., 2002). All of these aggressive behaviors pose physical, social, and legal consequences that are likely to cause harm to the individual, thus making these behaviors risky.

There is clear empirical evidence that ADHD is associated with a wide range of RBs, including binge drinking, aggressive behaviors, and sexual risk behaviors. The increased probability of undesirable or harmful consequences from engaging in these behaviors rightly classifies each as a RB. Despite potentially different motivations for engaging in these specific RBs, these behaviors are all associated with potential reinforcement (e.g., binge drinking or casual sex reinforced by pleasure). Though these principles of operant conditioning may help to conceptually link motivations for ERB, these principles alone do not sufficiently explain the relationship between ADHD and ERB.

Further research is needed to understand the mechanism driving this wide-range of increased ERB in ADHD under a theoretical framework. The Triple Pathway Theory of ADHD identifies inhibitory control, delay aversion, and temporal processing deficits as factors that are etiologically relevant to ADHD and its inherent heterogeneity (Sonuga-Barke et al., 2010). Previous research has identified that inhibitory control deficits and delay aversion link ADHD to ERB, yet temporal processing has not been investigated as related to ERB (Pollak et al., 2018). The present study aims to fill this void and relies upon an existing theoretical framework for understanding potential association between temporal processing deficits and ERB.

Clinical Significance of Temporal Processing Deficits

Although relationships between ERB and temporal processing abilities are unexplored in ADHD, Wittmann and Paulus (2008) provide a theoretical framework for understanding potential association between ADHD and ERB. Though not developed for ADHD, Wittmann

and Paulus (2008) propose that aberrant temporal processing abilities lead to impulsive decision making. Highly impulsive individuals (e.g., individuals with ADHD) perceive a subjective slowing in the passage of time (denoted by a fast internal clock, which is a well replicated objective finding in ADHD), and are, therefore, more likely to engage in exciting or stimulating activities (e.g., RBs) to subside boredom or abate the experience of slowed time. Indeed, some in the ADHD field have argued that impulsivity in ADHD is a function of aberrant time perception (Rubia et al., 2009).

Because 1) temporal processing deficits are one of the pathways implicated in ADHD (Himpel et al., 2009; Hurks & Hendriksen, 2011; Sonuga-Barke et al., 2010), 2) individuals with ADHD display a pattern of objective over-estimation and under-reproduction consistent with a subjective experience of time passing slowly (Coghlan, 2009; Zheng et al., 2020), 3) impulsivity is a core feature of ADHD, and 4) impulsive decision-making and ERB are both common in ADHD (Pollak et al., 2018; Shoham et al., 2019), the Wittmann and Paulus (2008) theoretical framework provides a potentially coherent basis for hypothesizing ERB in ADHD to be, in part, a function of aberrant temporal processing.

While not specific to ADHD, the Wittmann and Paulus (2008) framework has been applied to the understanding the relationship between impulsivity and ERB in multiple different forms of psychopathology. Abnormal performance on cognitive tasks of temporal processing, specifically the over-estimation of time intervals, is seen in individuals with substance use disorders (Paasche et al., 2019). A meta-analysis found that individuals with high trait impulsivity (e.g., those with a diagnosis of borderline personality disorder, substance use disorder, or pathological gambling) over-estimate the passage of time (Moreira et al., 2016). Problematic substance use and gambling are prevalent in ADHD (Shoham et al., 2019), as is impulsivity and the over-estimation of time intervals (M. E. Toplak et al., 2006; Zheng et al., 2020). Therefore, the Wittmann and Paulus (2008) framework may be useful to explain the connection between temporal processing deficits and the increased ERB in ADHD. The association between temporal processing deficits and ERB in ADHD warrants exploration as a potential clinically significant consequence of the temporal processing pathway of ADHD. In addition, procrastination is a clinically significant construct that may be related to deficits in the temporal processing pathway of ADHD.

Procrastination

Procrastination refers to delaying tasks that must be completed before a deadline, and procrastination is associated with deficits in time management skills (Francisco et al., 2013), which constitute a facet of temporal processing (Grondin, 2010). Although many factors (e.g., task aversion, motivation, anxiety) contribute to procrastination, poor time management skills, such as the inability to accurately estimate how long a task will take to complete and allocate adequate time for the task, predict procrastination (Häfner et al., 2014; Ocak & Boyraz, 2016). Moreover, ADHD symptoms in adults and college students are positively correlated with rates of procrastination (Ferrari & Sanders, 2006; Niermann & Scheres, 2014), and temporal processing and time management deficits in ADHD may contribute to increased levels of procrastination in this population. As such, procrastination is theoretically related to temporal processing and may serve as a useful variable to study the ecological manifestation or external validity of temporal processing deficits in ADHD.

Although the dimensions of temporal processing have been commonly investigated in ADHD, this literature is *entirely* based on experimental, laboratory-based cognitive tasks. To our knowledge, no studies have examined the self-reported subjective experience of time in ADHD

or the potential ecological manifestations of ADHD-related temporal processing deficits in college students. The subjective experience of time is a particularly important dimension of temporal processing given the role it plays on individual interpretation of their connection to and passage of time (Shipp & Jansen, 2021) and its prominence in the Wittmann and Paulus (2008) framework. To advance the field, research is needed to directly measure the subjective experience of time via a valid and reliable self-report measure and elucidate the role of temporal processing deficits in clinically significant outcomes relevant to college students (e.g., ERB).

Existing Time Questionnaires

There is a variety of empirically supported objective laboratory measures (i.e., auditory or visual duration discrimination, time estimation, and time reproduction tasks) used to assess temporal processing deficits, yet these *objective* measures do not provide direct information about the *subjective* experience of time or perception of time in daily life (Block et al., 2018).. Currently, there is a dearth of psychometrically sound questionnaires available to assess temporal processing. The following is a review of the few existing questionnaires that assess temporal processing and related processes, with attention to why a novel self-report instrument is needed for use with college students.

Two instruments designed to measure time perception in children exist, including the Time Knowledge Questionnaire (TKQ) and Salience, Organization and Management of Time Scale (SOMTS). The TKQ measures aspects of children's time knowledge, including knowledge of temporal structures and sequences (e.g., there are 4 weeks in a month), time units, and awareness of important dates (Labrell et al., 2020). The SOMTS is a parent-report measure that expands beyond time knowledge to measure multiple domains of temporal processing in children using three subscales: verbalizing temporal structure (e.g., how often a child talks about the future), temporal self-regulation (e.g., ability to follow deadlines), and conceptualization of time (e.g., understanding units of time) (Houghton et al., 2011). Although these questionnaires have acceptable reliability (Houghton et al., 2011; Labrell et al., 2020) and may be promising tools to measure a child's knowledge of time, the TKQ and SOMTS provide limited information on the subjective experience of time. For example, the items on these questionnaires primarily measure the construct of time knowledge and provide only one item that targets subjective time via retrospective duration estimates. Finally, and importantly, TKQ and SOMTS are both measures developed for children and are not validated for use in the college student population.

The Sorrell-Canu Orientation To Time (SCOTT) is a self-report measure of temporal processing for adults that largely focuses on duration estimation and temporal self-regulation (Sorrell & Canu, 2018). The SCOTT has high face validity for measuring temporal processing (e.g., "I have difficulty estimating how much time it will take me to complete a task") and good internal consistency ($\alpha = .82$) (Sorrell & Canu, 2018). Despite these merits, there is no other information on the psychometrics of the SCOTT, and the measure is not currently being considered for further investigation (Canu, personal communication, March 18, 2021). Moreover, the SCOTT contains items to measure duration estimation and temporal self-regulation in an adult population but does not contain items measuring the subjective experience of time.

The Time Integration Questionnaire (TIQ) was constructed as a measure of the subjective experience of time by combining many dimensions of temporal processing (Drakulić et al., 2003). From its conception, however, the TIQ lacked a theoretical basis and attempted to capture the experience of time from a purely lexical approach – identifying words in the English language used to describe time (Drakulić et al., 2003). The atheoretical nature of this

questionnaire is problematic, along with its focus on descriptive and metaphorical language that can be challenging to comprehend (e.g., "My life goes on in insufficiently connected periods"; "I feel that I am of full age").

The Subjective Time Questionnaire (STQ) was developed to assess the difference in the subjective passing of time between older and younger adults (Wittmann & Lehnhoff, 2005). One subscale assesses personal time experience and asks the participant to rate how slowly time passes on a Likert scale from -2 to 2 (Wittmann & Lehnhoff, 2005). The subjective time experience subscale rates agreement to statements of time expansion (e.g. "I have a lot of time") and time pressure (e.g. "I haven't enough time to complete my tasks") on a Likert scale from 0 to 4 (Wittmann & Lehnhoff, 2005). These questions have a high face validity for measuring the subjective experience of time, but, despite the use of the STQ is several later studies (Mioni et al., 2016; Wittmann et al., 2015), this questionnaire has not been psychometrically validated. Six items on the STQ involve time related metaphors (e.g., "time is a galloping horse"), which may introduce error as individuals interpret metaphors differently or have rigid thinking patterns and fail to understand metaphor, and the use of two different Likert scales on the questionnaire may be confusing. Although some items in the STQ demonstrate high face validity, the use of metaphors, multiple Likert scales, and lack of psychometrics are problematic.

Currently, there is not a psychometrically valid self-report questionnaire that can be used to reliably and validly assess multiple domains of temporal processing, including the subjective experience of time perception, time estimation abilities, and temporal self-regulation in college students. The TKQ only measures one dimension of temporal processing, time knowledge, in children. The SOMTS is a valid measure of temporal self-regulation but, similarly, is intended for use in children and does not measure subjective time experience. The SCOTT is a reliable measure of time estimation and temporal self-regulation for adults, but the SCOTT lacks evidence of validity or a way to assess subjective experience of time. Although the TIQ and STQ specifically measure the subjective experience of time, these measures lack evidence of reliability, rely on metaphorical language, and do not measure time estimation or temporal selfregulation. Moreover, none of these five scales have been tested for concurrent validity with objective, cognitive measures of temporal processing.

In sum, there are benefits to many of these assessments, and the SOMTS, SCOTT, and STQ contain promising items to assess time perception; however, none of the current assessments successfully measure the temporal processing constructs of interest in college students with ADHD. Therefore, there is a need for a psychometrically valid self-report questionnaire to measure multiple domains of temporal processing in college students.

Purpose of the Present Study

Many studies have independently examined ADHD-related performance on laboratory tasks temporal processing, albeit primarily in child samples. A sufficient body of literature exists on temporal processing deficits in ADHD that this domain is included in the leading ADHD theory (Triple Pathway Theory). At the same time, 1) these laboratory-based performance measures have not been directly correlated to the subjective experience of time, real world time management skills, or clinically significant outcomes of temporal processing deficits, 2) nor is there an existing reliable and valid self-report measure to evaluate these key constructs of temporal processing in college students. Although the relationship between the temporal pathway and increased ERB in ADHD is not well understood, the Wittmann and Paulus (2008) framework is a promising theoretical basis for understanding associations between ERB and temporal processing deficits in ADHD. Lastly, the existing body of literature suggests that ADHD is associated with *objective* temporal processing deficits and a fast internal clock – indicative of the subjective experience of time passing slowly – but the self-reported *subjective* experience of time in ADHD has yet to be evaluated.

To address these gaps in the literature, the proposed study aims to 1) assess the reliability, concurrent validity, and discriminant validity of a novel self-report measure of temporal processing; 2) evaluate the relationship between ADHD severity, objective temporal processing performance, and subjective temporal processing in college students; and 3) evaluate the extent to which objective temporal processing performance and subjective report of temporal processing are associated with engagement in risky behavior. The hypotheses are as follows: 1) the novel self-report measure of temporal processing will have satisfactory internal consistency, demonstrate concurrent validity with the objective cognitive measures of temporal processing and with a conceptually relevant, related construct (procrastination), and demonstrate discriminant validity to distinguish between individuals with and without ADHD; 2) greater ADHD severity will be associated with greater objective temporal processing deficits and a subjective experience of time passing slowly; 3a) objective temporal processing deficits and a subjective experience of time passing more slowly will be associated with greater ERB; and 3b) ADHD severity will exacerbate the relationship between the subjective experience of time passing slowly and ERB.

Methods

Participants completed this study in one virtual 45-50 minute session, and data collection was completed between November 2021 – April 2022. The session was comprised of two objective cognitive temporal processing tasks and multiple self-report questionnaires to assess ADHD symptoms, subjective temporal processing, delay aversion, inhibitory control, ERB, and

demographic information. Data analyses assessed the reliability and validity of the novel selfreport measure of temporal processing and evaluated the extent to which ADHD was associated with objective temporal processing task performance, the subjective experience of time passing slowly, and ERB. This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board at Syracuse University (IRB #21-291).

Participants

A total of 275 participants were recruited from Syracuse University through the university's Psychology Research Participation System (SONA). SONA is an online system that allows students at Syracuse University to sign up for research studies and access virtually administered studies. The introductory level psychology course at Syracuse University introduces students to the SONA system, and research participation (through SONA or an alternative assignment) is a course requirement. All recruited participants met inclusion/exclusion criteria for this study.

Inclusion criteria for this study included (a) the ability to comprehend the English language because the instructions and scales were administered in English; and (b) access to a laptop or computer with a stable internet connection and functioning speakers. In addition, to participate in the study, interested individuals were required to be (c) currently enrolled full-time as a Syracuse University undergraduate student; and (d) between 18 and 25 years old.

Exclusion criteria included (a) deafness (study contains auditory stimuli); (b) psychiatric disorders (i.e., autism spectrum disorder) associated with temporal processing deficits (Isaksson et al., 2018); and (c) neurological conditions (i.e., concussion, traumatic brain injury) associated with temporal processing deficits (Bader et al., 2019). Given the extensive psychiatric

comorbidity of ADHD, the current study did not screen out comorbid conditions beyond those noted above.

Of the 275 recruited and enrolled participants, 44 participants were removed for missing data, 12 were removed due to failed attention checks, and 4 were removed due to outliers (as detailed in the data inspection section below). A total of 215 participants were retained in the final sample.

The mean age of the 215 participants was 18.75 (SD=1.01). Most participants were in their first year of college (75.3%) and identified as White (62.8%) and female (55.7%). 7.9% of participants reported currently having ADHD, and 6.1% reported currently managing their ADHD through prescribed medication. Based on self-report of ADHD symptoms via the Adult ADHD Self-report Scale Six-item Screener (ASRS-6; M=11.44, SD=3.56), 15.8% of college students rated themselves as having a clinically elevated ADHD symptoms. All college students with a self-reported ADHD diagnosis also met the cut-off score for clinically elevated ADHD symptoms based on the ASRS-6. In addition, college students in our sample self-reported a normative, non-impairing level of depression, anxiety, and stress symptoms (M=18.17, SD=13.20), with 30.2% of students exhibiting clinically significant levels of depression based on the clinical cut-off scores on the DASS-21 (Beaufort et al., 2017). Full demographic information is presented in Table 3. Bivariate correlation matrices for descriptive variables and variables used for linear regressions can be found in Table 4 and Table 5, respectively.

A priori power analysis (detailed in the data analytic plan below) indicated that a sample size of 103 participants would be required to detect a medium effect size at the alpha level of .05 to evaluate hypotheses 2 and 3. Nevertheless, scale development guidelines indicate that a sample size that is five times larger than the number of items on a proposed scale is sufficient for

psychometric analyses (Anthoine et al., 2014). The novel subjective temporal processing measure developed for this study contains 20 items, indicating 200 participants were needed to obtain sufficient power. Therefore, the sample size (N=215) of this study was adequately powered to detect medium strength associations and conduct reliability and validity analyses on a novel 20-item scale.

Procedure

All measures were completed virtually through Qualtrics. Participants received instructions to complete this study on a computer or laptop, in a quiet environment with no distractions, as though they "were taking an online test for one of their courses". Participants were instructed to not use a phone or watch during the completion of this study.

After obtaining electronic informed consent, participants completed an ADHD symptom inventory on Qualtrics. Following completion of this first measure, participants were automatically directed to <u>InquisitWeb</u> to complete the two computerized cognitive tasks of objective temporal processing. InquisitWeb provided each user with unique login information to record data. Any session left idle for 30 minutes was automatically terminated by the system. Following completion of the two InquisitWeb tasks, participants were automatically redirected back to Qualtrics to complete the remaining self-report questionnaires. All participants were asked to provide sociodemographic data at the end of the study in an effort to make ADHD symptoms the most salient individual difference variable. Following all measure and task completion, participants were debriefed and compensated (1 SONA credit).

Four attention check items (e.g., "Please select 5 for this item") were dispersed within the self-report measures to ensure participants are fully reading and answering questions. One validity item (i.e., "Did you encounter internet connectivity issues that interfered with your

completion of this study?") was presented at the end of the study to check validity related to internet use. In addition to the validity check item, InquisitWeb contains validity features that allowed the researcher to view errors during the administration of the cognitive tasks, such as the use of a phone to complete the cognitive tasks or internet connection errors. Participants who failed ≥ 2 attention check items or failed any validity item were not included in analyses. All measures were administered in one session and took approximately 45 minutes to complete.

Measures

All measures were directly embedded into the Qualtrics survey and presented in the order listed in Table 1. ADHD symptom measures were administered first to increase the salience of ADHD symptoms. Following the ADHD symptom measures, participants were provided instructions about the automatic transition between the survey (Qualtrics) and InquisitWeb platforms for user ease. InquisitWeb tasks were administered second to allow for objective temporal processing performance to be measured when participants were not mentally taxed from long self-report items. The novel self-report measure of temporal processing was purposefully presented several measures away from the objective temporal processing tasks to allow for greater separation when answering these self-report items intended to be based on general experiences with time perception rather than the recent experience with the objective, experimental task. Demographic items were administered at the end of the survey to mitigate any stereotype threat that may impact self-report or performance on previous measures in the study.

ADHD Symptoms

The Adult ADHD Self-report Scale Six-item Screener (ASRS-6) is a self-report scale that consists of 6 items across two sub-scales (inattention and hyperactivity-impulsivity), and past 6-month frequency of ADHD symptoms are rated on a 5-point Likert scale (0 – never, 4 –

very often) with greater frequency indicating greater symptom severity (Adler et al., 2006). The ASRS-6 is a psychometrically valid self-report measure of ADHD, with high internal consistency and test-retest reliability, and is strongly correlated with clinical diagnoses of ADHD (Adler et al., 2006; Kessler et al., 2007). This measure has been validated in the college student population for ADHD screening (Gray et al., 2014). A score of 14 or higher on the ASRS-6 is indicative of a clinically elevated level of ADHD symptoms (Adler et al., 2006). This clinical cut-off score was utilized in the current study to create ADHD (e.g., ASRS-6 score \geq 14) vs. non-ADHD groups (e.g., ASRS-6 score < 14). Cronbach's alpha for the ASRS-6 in the current study was 0.71, indicating acceptable internal consistency.

The following four questions were asked immediately following the ASRS administration in order to assess if participants have a previous history of ADHD diagnosis and/or a history of taking ADHD medication: 1) Have you ever been diagnosed with Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) *or* Attention Deficit Disorder (ADD) by a medical or mental health professional? 2) Have you ever been prescribed medication for ADHD? 3) Do you currently take medication for ADHD? 4) Did you take your medication for ADHD today? The first three questions were used to describe the sample and support the external validity for the ADHD group created based on the ASRS-6 scores. The fourth question was used as a covariate in analyses.

Objective Temporal Processing

Immediately following the ASRS, objective temporal processing was measured using two tasks: a prospective time estimation task and a temporal reproduction task. These tasks are available on InquisitWeb and were directly embedded into the study. A prospective time estimation task and a prospective temporal reproduction task were chosen because time estimation and temporal reproduction task performance has been shown to discriminate ADHD from non-ADHD (Walg et al., 2017), such that individuals with ADHD consistently overestimate and under-reproduce time intervals (Walg et al., 2017; Zheng et al., 2020). Furthermore, prospective time estimation and temporal reproduction are both implicated in the Wittmann and Paulus theoretical framework, such that individuals with a fast internal clock (denoted by overestimating and under-reproducing time interval) are posited to exhibit greater ERB (Wittmann & Paulus, 2008).

The prospective time estimation task follows the procedure detailed in Wittmann and colleagues (2007). Prior to starting the task, participants received task instructions that they will need to estimate the interval of time between the start stimulus (i.e., a green dot appearing on screen, accompanied by an alarm ring) and the end stimulus (i.e., a red dot appearing on screen, accompanied by an alarm ring). After reading the instructions, participants completed two practice trials prior to become familiar with the task. Participants completed 3 trials of the time estimation task for time intervals of 10 seconds, 35 seconds, and 135 seconds, presented in a random order. Participants reported the estimated duration of the time interval on a visual scale of 0 minutes to 3 minutes, with each bar representing 1 second. Performance was recorded in InquisitWeb and automatically stored. The mean accuracy (estimated duration – real duration of stimulus) across the 3 trials was utilized in analyses.

The prospective temporal reproduction task also followed the procedure described in Wittmann and colleagues (2007). Participants heard a standard tone play for a given duration, and then were asked to reproduce the duration. To reproduce the duration, participants were presented with a tone and asked to interrupt this tone when it has played for the same duration as the previous tone. The tone is interrupted by pressing their computer's space bar. After reading the instructions, participants completed 3 practice trials. Each participant completed 30 trials of this task for durations of 1 second, 2 seconds, 3 seconds, 4 seconds, and 5 seconds. Each duration was presented 6 times in a random order. Mean duration of reproduced intervals, the coefficient of variation (SD/Mean), and the mean accuracy ((reproduced duration – actual duration)/number of trials) will be calculated for the six trials of each duration. Because the durations measured were all under 5 seconds, and to reduce Type I errors that can be introduced by running many analyses, as recommended by others (Nejati & Yazdani, 2020), the total mean accuracy and coefficient of variation across all time intervals was used for analyses.

Delay Aversion

The Quick Delay Questionnaire (QDQ) is a 10-item self-report measure of responses to delay in adults (Clare et al., 2010). The QDQ is comprised of two subscales, delay aversion ("I hate waiting for things") and delay discounting ("I often give up on things that I cannot have immediately"), and has good test-rest reliability (range: r = .80 - .81) and acceptable internal consistency (range: $\alpha = .68 - .79$) (Clare et al., 2010). ADHD symptoms are significantly correlated (r = .416, p < 0.01) with self-report on the QDQ (Clare et al., 2010), and there is established discriminant validity to differentiate individuals with an ADHD diagnosis from a nonclinical population (Thorell et al., 2017). Cronbach's alpha for the QDQ in the current study was 0.78, indicating acceptable internal consistency reliability. The total raw score from the QDQ were used to control for delay aversion when testing hypotheses 2 and 3.

Inhibitory Control

The Urgency, Premeditation (lack of), Perseverance (lack of), Sensation Seeking, Positive Urgency, Impulsive Behavior Scale (UPPS-P) measures five facets of impulsivity (Lynam et al., 2006). The UPPS-P is a well-accepted measure of impulsivity, demonstrating high internal consistency and adequate test–retest validity (Magid & Colder, 2007). The lack of premeditation, positive urgency, and negative urgency subscales demonstrate discriminant validity to differentiate between individuals with and without ADHD (Geurten et al., 2021), and these three subscales adequately measure inhibitory control (a dimension of impulsivity) (Whiteside & Lynam, 2001). The combined score from lack of premeditation, positive urgency, and negative urgency subscales was used to control for inhibitory control when testing hypotheses 2 and 3. Cronbach's alpha for the UPPS-P combined scores in the current study was 0.89, indicating good internal consistency reliability.

Subjective Experience of Time

The Time Management and Experience Scale (TiME) is the novel self-report measure that was developed for this study to provide a comprehensive self-assessment of temporal processing. The measure is comprised of 20 items pertaining to one's subjective experience of time passing and one's ability to manage time in daily life during the past 6-months. Participants rate agreement with the statements on a 6-point Likert scale (1 – strongly disagree; 3 – slightly disagree, 4 – slightly agree, 6 – strongly agree). An extensive description of the development of the TiME is detailed in the TiME Pilot Testing and Development section. As part of hypothesis 1 testing, psychometric analyses (e.g., exploratory factor analysis, reliability, validity) were completed for the TiME, and internal consistency was analyzed for each subscale identified. TiME total score was used in analyses for hypotheses 2 and 3.

Risky Behaviors

The Cognitive Appraisal of Risky Events Questionnaire (CARE) measures the perceived risk, benefit, and past frequency of engagement in risky behaviors (Fromme et al., 1997). Risky behaviors are categorized into 6 domains on the CARE: risky sexual behavior, heavy drinking,

illicit drug use, aggressive and illegal behaviors, irresponsible academic/work behaviors, and high risk sports (Fromme et al., 1997). Past frequency of engagement in risky behaviors was reported as a numerical estimate of the number of times the participant engaged in a given behavior in the past 6 months (Fromme et al., 1997). The CARE has good internal reliability (α range: .81 - .84) and test-retest reliability and strong construct validity based on significant correlations with impulsivity and sensation seeking (Fromme et al., 1997). The CARE was selected for this study because: 1) the CARE was developed and normed in a college student population, and 2) external validity was established in a clinical substance use disorders sample (Fromme et al., 1997). In addition, the CARE represents risky behaviors with potentially severe outcomes (e.g., binge drinking, condomless sex) as well as those with still serious, but less severe consequences (e.g., irresponsible academic behaviors). These domains of risky behaviors coincide with the domains of risky behaviors that are associated with ADHD. For the purposes of this study, the subscale pertaining to high risk sports was not be included as it is not of clinical interest or related to the aims of this project. One additional item was added at the end of the CARE drug use subscale: "ever used stimulant medication in a way that was not prescribed". This item will be included to assess for NMU of stimulants, a risky behavior that has been associated with ADHD (Clemow & Walker, 2014) but not assessed in the CARE. Each of the included frequency of past engagement subscale scores (e.g., risky sexual behavior, heavy drinking, drug use, aggressive behaviors, irresponsible academic/work behaviors) were used in analyses.

Procrastination

The Tuckman Procrastination Scale (TPS) measures self-reported procrastination and tendency to procrastinate (Tuckman, 1991). The TPS contains 16 items with good internal
reliability (α =.86) and was normed and intended for use in the college student population (Tuckman, 1991). The TPS was used to test concurrent validity of the TiME because procrastination has demonstrated to have medium correlations with measures of time management, which is a dimension of temporal processing (Ocak & Boyraz, 2016). Cronbach's alpha for the TPS in the current study was 0.81, indicating good internal consistency reliability.

Depression, Anxiety, and Stress

The Depression, Anxiety, and Stress Scale (DASS-21) measures anxiety, stress, and depression and is commonly used as a general measure of psychological distress (Henry & Crawford, 2005). The DASS-21 contains 21 items with excellent internal reliability (α =.93) and is normed for use in the general adult population (Henry & Crawford, 2005). The DASS-21 was used to describe the overall level of psychological distress in the sample. Participants reported levels of psychological distress that are typical of non-clinical adult populations (Henry & Crawford, 2005), indicating no need to control for psychological distress in analyses. Cronbach's alpha for the DASS-21 in the current study was .94, indicating excellent internal consistency reliability

Demographics/Background

A brief demographic questionnaire will collect information about participants' age, gender, race, ethnicity, and year in college. These variables were used to describe the sample.

TiME Pilot Testing and Development

Initial Item Pool Development

Twenty-five items (see Appendix A) were generated to address three conceptually distinct domains of temporal processing: 1) time estimation abilities; 2) temporal self-regulation; and 3) subjective time perception. The items were generated based on face-validity to measure

one of the three domains of temporal processing, and several items covered similar content and phrasing as the SCOTT, with permission of the its developers (Canu, personal communication, March 18, 2021). The format, instructions, and item phrasing (i.e., first-person) of the TiME were based on previous measures used to assess procrastination and time management in college students (Sorrell & Canu, 2018; Tuckman, 1991).

Pilot Testing Results

These initial 25-items were pilot tested on a sample of 71 undergraduate college students from Syracuse University, recruited from the SONA research participation pool. As is recommended best-practice in scale development research (Boateng et al., 2018), this initial pilot testing was conducted to eliminate poorly worded, very low-performing items to provide preliminary evidence of feasibility and reliability of the scale. Based on the initial calculated KMO of 0.502, five items were deleted from the original set of items. These five items were selected for removal due to low correlation with the overall test score and low inter-items correlation. Overall KMO was recalculated after the removal of items. Overall KMO was 0.648, indicating suitability for factors analysis. Principle factor analysis (PFA) and root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA) were then completed on the remaining 20 items. Results from the PFA and RMSEA indicated a four-factor structure. The resulting four factors were subjective experience of time, temporal self-regulation, time orientation, and time pressure. Internal consistency for the pilot instrument was acceptable for the subjective experience of time (α =.74) and temporal self-regulation (α =.69) subscales, but poor for the time orientation (α =.20) and time pressure (α =.17) subscales. See Appendix B for steps of item removal and factor analysis from pilot testing.

Revising Item Pool

The acceptable reliability of the subjective experience of time and temporal selfregulation subscales from this pilot sample provides evidence that these two subscales may be a reliable and useful self-report measure of temporal processing in college students. Although the pilot testing participant sample was underpowered, this initial pilot testing was utilized to simply remove significantly low-performing items to ensure the items on the TiME are easily comprehensible and have preliminary evidence of ability to measure temporal processing, as is typical of pre-testing in scale development (Boateng et al., 2018). Because of the poor performance of the temporal self-regulation and time orientation items, five of the lowest performing items (i.e., lowest correlation with other items, lowest factor loading) from these two subscales were removed from the TiME. Five items hypothesized to load onto the subjective experience of time and temporal self-regulation scales were then added to make the current iteration of the TiME to be used in this project. These five new items were generated based on face validity for assessing subjective experience of time and temporal self-regulation, using existing measures (e.g., SCOTT, STQ) as reference (Sorrell & Canu, 2018; Wittmann & Lehnhoff, 2005). See Appendix C for a table of the item pool revisions for the final TiME.

Selecting Validity Constructs

Several measures were selected to assess validity of the TiME. While concurrent validity with an existing measure that assesses temporal processing is typically recommended, none of the extant temporal processing self-report scales have been assessed for validity (Langberg et al., 2011; Sorrell & Canu, 2018; Wittmann & Lehnhoff, 2005). Thus, a scale (i.e., TPS) that assesses a theoretically relevant and conceptually similar construct to temporal processing (i.e., procrastination) was selected to test concurrent validity of the TiME. Because objective,

cognitive tasks are hallmark in testing temporal processing (Matthews & Meck, 2014), a time estimation and time reproduction task were selected to test concurrent validity of the TiME, as well. Finally, the ASRS was selected to test discriminant validity of the TiME because 1) temporal processing deficits are consistently noted in individuals with ADHD compared to those without ADHD (Nejati & Yazdani, 2020; Zheng et al., 2020); and 2) the ASRS is a psychometrically valid and commonly used tool to assess for ADHD symptoms in college students (Gray et al., 2014). Given the evidence that prescribed stimulant medication does not significantly impact time perception in individuals with ADHD, stimulant medication use was not included as a correlate with the TiME (Barkley et al., 1997; Hurks & Hendriksen, 2011).

Data Analytic Plan

Power Analyses

Power analyses to complete psychometric analyses for the TiME followed scale development guidelines, which suggest a sample size that is five times greater than the number of items on a proposed scale (Anthoine et al., 2014). The TiME contains a total of 20 items, and, therefore, 200 participants are needed for sufficient power to complete psychometric analyses.

A priori power estimates using effect sizes from previous research examining temporal processing and risk-taking in ADHD were calculated using G*Power. Previous ADHD studies demonstrate medium to large effect sizes between ADHD severity and temporal processing deficits (Nejati & Yazdani, 2020; Zheng et al., 2020), medium to large effect sizes between ADHD and ERB (Shoham et al., 2019), and medium effects between temporal processing deficits and ERB (Cáceda et al., 2020; Paasche et al., 2019). Given the dearth of literature on the subjective experience of time in ADHD, a medium effect size was presumed. Assuming 80%

power to detect significant associations, an alpha level of .05, a moderate effect size (f^2 =.15), and 7 predictors, a sample size of 103 was needed to attain adequate statistical power.

Pre-Analytic Data Management

Before conducting analyses, data was assessed for missingness, reliability, and normality. Initially, 44 participants were removed from analyses due to excess missingness (e.g., missing all InquisitWeb data due to technical errors). After the removal of excess data loss due to InquisitWeb failures, remaining data were also analyzed for missingness. Data were missing completely at random as per Little's MCAR test ($\chi^2(1015, N = 219) = 1050.933, p=.21$) and less than 3% of the total data were missing. Thus, multiple imputation was used to handle remaining missing data.

Attention check items were included for reliability of data, and 12 participants were removed for failing 2 or more attention check items. The remaining data were analyzed for normality and multicollinearity. Skewness and kurtosis analysis of all variables except the CARE met the assumptions of normality (Mishra et al., 2019). The CARE data was assessed for outliers, and as suggested by (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007), outlier data points above/below 2SD from the mean of on each item were removed. This removed the ability of outlier to unduly influence statistical significance through Type I or Type II errors. A total of four cases were removed due to outliers. After removal of outliers, the CARE data is consistent with the most recent national data, which demonstrates 44% of college students report engaging in cannabis use and 56% report engaging in alcohol use (NIDA, 2021). Therefore, zero-reporting on these items is typical of the general college student population and does not warrant a zero-inflated correction. Based on the inflated variance compared to the mean on the CARE count data

(Erdman & Sinko, 2008; Wagner et al., 2015), a negative binomial regression was selected to complete the hypothesis 3 analyses using the CARE.

Factor Structure Analyses

In order to test hypothesis 1, factor analyses on the TiME were completed. Bartlett's test of sphericity and a Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Measure of Sampling Adequacy (KMO) for the TiME was used to determine if factor analysis could be used to reliably identify factors, wherein a significant Bartlett's test of specificity and a KMO above 0.50 indicate that factor analysis is appropriate (Watkins, 2018). Parallel analysis and a scree plot was used to determine the minimum eigenvalue necessary for inclusion for each factor (Glorfeld, 1995), and any factor where the initial eigenvalue eigenvalues >1 and exceeds the average from the parallel analysis were included (Hayton et al., 2004). Factors that could be linked to an existing theoretical rationale were retained, and factors that could not be linked to any existing theories of temporal processing were removed.

Items that loaded at least moderately (≥ 0.40) onto only one factor were included. Items that loaded between 0.40 and 0.30 on one factor or that loaded moderately (≥ 0.40) on more than one factor were examined for inclusion on the basis of theoretical rationale (Osborne, 2014), and items that loaded below 0.30 were excluded (Watkins, 2018). The maximum likelihood method was used to extract factors, as assumptions of normality were met, because this method allowed for easier computation for goodness of fit tests and significance testing of factor loadings. Direct oblimin rotation was used because the facets of temporal processing (e.g., subjective experience of time, temporal self-regulation) are theorized to be correlated with each other. Model fit was examined through a significant chi-square test and a root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA) value less than or equal to .06 (Chen et al., 2008).

Primary Analyses

To test hypothesis 1 (novel measure will possess adequate psychometric properties), a factor analysis, as detailed above, was completed to evaluate the hypothesized two factor structure of the TiME (revised from the initial pilot data). Cronbach's alpha was used to determine internal reliability of the TiME, and a Cronbach's alpha in the acceptable range ($\alpha \ge 0.71$) on the TiME total score and each factor was required to accept hypothesis 1 (TiME is a reliable measure). Concurrent validity of the subjective TiME was determined based on the correlation between performance on objective temporal processing tasks, the TPS, and the TiME. A strong correlation ($r \ge .50$) between the TiME and TPS was required to accept hypothesis 1 (TiME is a valid measure of temporal processing). Discriminant validity of the TiME was determined based on the correlation between self-report on the TiME and self-report on the ASRS. A strong correlation ($r \ge .50$) between TiME and ASRS was required to support the discriminant validity of the TiME for differentiating ADHD from non-ADHD.

To test hypothesis 2, multiple linear regression analysis was conducted to evaluate the association between ADHD symptoms (Y), objective temporal processing performance (X₁), and subjective temporal processing self-reports (X₂). The criterion for statistical significance was set to an alpha level of 0.05. To accept hypothesis 2, objective temporal processing performance and subjective experience of time self-reports were expected to be significantly associated with ADHD severity.

To test hypotheses 3a and 3b, a negative binomial regression analysis (selected based on findings in the pre-analytic data management section) were conducted to evaluate the prediction of ERB (Y) from ADHD symptom severity (X₁), objective temporal processing performance

(X₂), and temporal processing self-reports (X₃). The analysis included delay aversion, inhibitory control, age, and ADHD medication use as covariates. The criterion for statistical significance was set to an alpha level of 0.05. ADHD symptom severity, objective temporal processing performance, and temporal processing self-reports were expected to be significantly associated with ERB and explain significantly more variance in the model than the covariates. The interaction term between ADHD symptom severity and temporal processing self-report was entered into the negative binomial regression model, and the interaction effect was expected to be significant for ERB, demonstrating the moderating effect of ADHD severity on ERB. See Table 2 for a summary of analyses conducted.

Results

Factor Analysis

The overall Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Test for Sampling Adequacy (KMO =.84) and Bartlett's Test of Sphericity ($\chi^2(190) = 1631.01$, p < .001) indicated that the TiME data was appropriate for factor analysis. The KMO for each item was greater than .50 (range: .58 – .91), justifying retaining all 20 items in the scale. See Table 6 for inter-item correlation matrix for all 20 items on the TiME.

Six factors with eigenvalues >1 were identified ($\lambda = 1.276 - 3.446$). However, the scree plot of eigenvalues (see Figure 1) of the reduced correlation matrix showed a marked drop from the fourth eigenvalue to the fifth, with no appreciable difference between the fifth and sixth or sixth and seventh eigenvalues, suggesting the presence of four latent factors. Additionally, the five and six-factor solutions were not meaningfully interpretable due to low number of items loading onto each factor and substantial cross-loading. Comparatively, the four-factor solution allowed for a more even number of items loading onto each factor and limited cross-loadings. Of note, two items were removed from the scale when determining this factor solution. Item 4 and item 13 were removed due to low loading on all four factors, such that 18 items were retained in the final factor solution. Thus, the four-factor maximum likelihood solution provided the most meaningful solution in terms of consistency with theory and previous measures of time perception, resulting number of items per factor, and absence of cross-loadings.

Hypothesis 1: TiME will be a reliable and valid self-report measure of temporal processing.

The fit indices for the oblim rotated maximum likelihood, four-factor TiME solution were $\chi^2(87) = 156.57$, *p*<.001; RMSEA=0.061, indicating adequate model fit. Results of the oblim rotated maximum likelihood solution for the TiME four-factor solution are presented in Table 7. Rather than representing a two-factor solution of subjective experience of time and temporal self-regulation outcomes (per *a priori* hypotheses), the four factors represented the multi-faceted nature of time perception, including feelings of time pressure, awareness or orientation to time, ability to regulate oneself to time, and subjective experience of time. In total, the four extracted factors across 18 items accounted for 60% of the total variance. Cronbach's alpha for the total TiME score was .80, indicating good internal consistency. Six items loaded onto the first factor, which was considered to reflect *Temporal Self-Regulation* (α =.86). Four items loaded onto the second factor, which was considered to reflect *Time Pressure* (α =.68), the third factor, which was considered to reflect *Orientation to Time* (α =.78), and the fourth factor, which was considered to reflect *Subjective Experience of Time* (α =.69).

The TiME demonstrated concurrent validity with a measure of procrastination, such that the TiME total was strongly correlated with the TPS (r=.64, p<.001). No significant associations were found between the TiME total or individual factors on the TiME and any other measure of

external validity (see Table 8). The TiME was not significantly correlated with the objective measures of temporal processing, specifically mean time reproduction accuracy (r= -.04, p=.654) and mean time estimation accuracy (r= -.01, p=.778). Similarly, the TiME total was not significantly correlated with ADHD symptoms, specifically ASRS total (r=.06, p=.230), ASRS inattention (r=.01, p=.628), or ASRS hyperactivity score (r=.11, p=.058). Moreover, no significant between group differences on the TiME were found. Participants in the ADHD group did not report any significant differences on the TiME total score or subscales compared to college students in the no ADHD group. See Table 9 for between group comparisons on the TiME.

In sum, the hypothesis that the TiME will be a reliable and valid self-report measure of temporal processing was partially accepted. The TiME total score (α =.80) met *a priori* standards (i.e., $\alpha \ge 71$) for accepting the TiME as an internally consistent measure. The TiME is partially accepted as a valid measure of temporal processing, as it demonstrated concurrent validity with procrastination but not with objective measures of temporal processing. The TiME failed to demonstrate adequate discriminant validity for ADHD. Additionally, given that the internal consistency of the *Subjective Experience of Time* subscale was in the questionable range, and the lack of evidence suggesting external validity for this subscale on its own, the *Subjective Experience of Time* subscale was not independently included in subsequent analyses. Rather, the overall TiME score was utilized to capture subjective temporal processing self-report in subsequent hypothesis testing.

Hypothesis 2: Greater ADHD severity will be associated with greater objective temporal processing deficits and a subjective experience of time passing slowly.

T-tests were utilized to investigate between group differences on objective temporal processing tasks. No significant differences were found between college students in the ADHD compared to no ADHD group on the time estimation task. On the time reproduction task, college students in the ADHD group were overall more inaccurate (t(213)=3.151, p=.002, d=.333) and displayed greater variation in their reproductions (t(213)=1.509, p=.025, d=.432) compared to college students in the no ADHD group. Specifically, college students in the ADHD group were more inaccurate reproducing time intervals of 1 second (t(213)=1.582, p=.016, d=.400), 2 seconds (t(213)=2.489, p=.005, d=.629), 3 seconds (t(213)=2.599, p=.014, d=.657), and 5 seconds (t(213)=2.661, p=.042, d=.673), compared to college students in the no ADHD. See Table 9 for full results of between group comparisons on objective temporal processing tasks.

A hierarchical linear regression was carried out to test if performance on temporal processing tasks and total TiME scores predicted ADHD symptoms when controlling for impulsivity and delay aversion. The first block of the model included the covariates of impulsivity (measured on the UPPS-P), delay aversion (measured on the QDQ), and self-report of ADHD medication use. Results for the first block of the model were non-significant. The second block of the model included objective temporal processing performance and subjective experience of time. Results for the second block of the model yielded a moderate effect size, yet were non-significant (R=.891, ΔR^2 =.546, F=2.189, p=.234). Of note, the temporal reproduction coefficient of variation was the only predictor approaching significance (p=.053). Please see Table 10 for linear regression results.

The hypothesis that temporal processing, as measured by objective temporal processing tasks and the TiME, would be associated with ADHD symptoms beyond impulsivity and delay aversion was rejected. No significant associations between these variables were detected.

Hypothesis 3a: Objective temporal processing deficits and a subjective experience of time passing more slowly will be associated with greater ERB

A negative binomial regression analysis was conducted to evaluate the prediction of ERB from ADHD symptom severity, objective temporal processing performance, and temporal processing self-reports. Age, ADHD medication use, delay aversion (as measured on the QDQ), and impulsivity (as measured on the UPPS-P) were included as covariates for each regression. As is detailed in the data inspection section above, a negative binomial regression was selected for this analysis due to the high level of variance in the count data from the CARE, which can be handled through negative binomial regression. Separate binomial regressions were completed for each of the five CARE subscales (e.g., risky sexual behavior, heavy drinking, drug use, aggressive behaviors, irresponsible academic/work behaviors) due to the heterogeneity in the risky behaviors measured on the CARE.

No variables significantly predicted heavy drinking or drug use as measured on the CARE. ADHD symptom severity (OR=1.133; 95% CI: 1.030, 1.247; p=.010) and TiME self-report (OR=1.054; 95% CI: 1.010, 1.101; p=.015) were significantly associated with greater engagement in irresponsible academic/work behaviors (e.g., missing class, not completing assignments). In terms of sexual risk behaviors, age (OR=1.217; 95% CI: 1.038, 1.426; p=.015) was significantly associated with greater engagement in sexual behaviors that may confer risk (e.g., unprotected sex, sex with a stranger) while objective time estimation accuracy (OR=.988; 95% CI: .979, .996; p=.006) was associated with lower engagement in these sexual behaviors.

Objective time estimation accuracy (OR=.989; 95% CI: .980, .998; p=.018) was also associated with lower engagement in aggressive behavior (e.g., hitting someone, causing a scene in public). No other variables were significantly associated with ERB as measured on the CARE. See Table 11 for full negative binomial regression results.

Hypothesis 3b: ADHD severity will exacerbate the relationship between the subjective experience of time passing slowly and ERB

An interaction term (ADHD severity x TiME) was created and added to the negative binomial regressions to assess the moderation of the subjective experience of time by ADHD severity. Results for the effect of the interaction term (ADHD severity x TiME) were nonsignificant for each of the five CARE subscales. The hypothesis that ADHD severity would moderate the relationship between subjective experience of time and ERB was rejected. See Table 11 for negative binomial regression moderation results.

Discussion

The present study developed a novel self-report measure of temporal processing and evaluated the associations between ADHD symptoms, objective temporal processing, and subjective temporal processing in college students. Further, this study utilized the Wittmann and Paulus (2008) theoretical framework to investigate the relationship between ADHD symptoms, temporal processing abilities, and ERB. This study expanded on past literature on temporal processing in ADHD by measuring temporal processing in a college student population (an under-represented population in this line of research), implementing a self-report measure of temporal processing, and considering clinically significant outcomes (e.g., ERB) that may be associated with temporal processing deficits. Table 12 provides a summary of the support for each hypothesis based on the results of the present study.

Supported Hypotheses

The primary significant findings from this study are (1) the TiME demonstrates reliability and some concurrent validity as a novel self-report measure of temporal processing, (2) ADHD symptom severity and temporal processing self-report (via the TiME) were positively associated with greater engagement in academic risk behaviors, and (3) time estimation accuracy was negatively associated with lower engagement in risky sexual behavior and aggressive behavior. These findings indicate that the TiME may be a useful measure to assess temporal processing, and some dimensions of temporal processing may be related to ERB.

TiME Reliability and Validity

Compared to existing self-report scales for temporal processing, such as the SOMTS, SCOTT, or STQ, the TiME is the first to include items pertaining both to temporal self-regulation and the subjective experience of time, thus offering a potentially more comprehensive assessment of temporal processing. The TiME total score demonstrates adequate internal consistency (α =.796) whereas many previous self-report scales for temporal processing have yet to be evaluated for reliability (Drakulić et al., 2003; Wittmann & Lehnhoff, 2005) or fail to provide a thorough assessment of many aspects of temporal processing (Houghton et al., 2011; Labrell et al., 2020; Sorrell & Canu, 2018).

The four-factor solution, consisting of Temporal Self-Regulation, Orientation to Time, Time Pressure, and Subjective Experience of Time subscales, is consistent with the multidimensional model of temporal processing (Grondin, 2010). Two of the four TiME subscales, Temporal Self-Regulation (α =.86) and Orientation to Time (α =.78), met standards for reliability. Although the other two subscales, Time Pressure (α =.61) and Subjective Experience of Time (α =.69), demonstrated reliability in the questionable range, they did not substantially decrease the overall TiME total score reliability and contributed theoretically important information about the subjective experience of time, and were thus retained. This lower reliability in the Time Pressure and Subjective Experience of Time subscales may indicate that these dimensions of temporal processing are more heterogeneous and difficult to measure. Indeed, previous research has found that there are notable individual differences in how people experience time and interpret time passage, leading to difficulties in measuring subjective time perception (Matthews & Meck, 2014). These two subscales also demonstrated weak correlation with each other and the other two subscales, indicating that these two constructs are unique facets of temporal processing. This notion is supported by past research (Matthews & Meck, 2016).

In terms of validity, the TiME exhibited a strong, positive correlation with the TPS, thus demonstrating concurrent validity with a theoretically related construct, procrastination. It is unsurprising that the TiME was positively correlated with the TPS given that some of the items on the TiME pertaining to Temporal Self-Regulation (e.g., "I often find it difficult to complete assignments on time," and "I usually give myself enough time to complete my work before the deadline.") relate to allocating adequate time to completing a task – a behavior that is conceptually similar to procrastinating. Nevertheless, concurrent validity with procrastination, a construct that is related to temporal processing (Francisco et al., 2013) and relevant to real-world behavior (Häfner et al., 2014; Ocak & Boyraz, 2016), is an important first step in providing evidence that the TiME is truly measuring temporal processing skills.

ADHD, Subjective Temporal Processing, and Risky Academic Behaviors

The positive relationship between ADHD symptoms and irresponsible academic behaviors is also unsurprising. Children and adolescents with ADHD are more likely to procrastinate on school work (Ferrari & Sanders, 2006; Niermann & Scheres, 2014) and have missing homework assignments (Langberg et al., 2016) and poorer attendance (Kent et al., 2011). This study's results confirm these past findings of risky academic behaviors in pediatric ADHD and indicate that college students who reported greater temporal processing deficits endorsed greater engagements in irresponsible or "risky" academic behaviors. Interestingly, in a recent qualitative study on academic impairments in college students with ADHD, a college student with ADHD remarked that they attributed their irresponsible academic behaviors, in part, to their poor perception of time (Lagacé-Leblanc et al., 2022).

While irresponsible academic behaviors are associated with less severe consequences than condomless sex or binge drinking, these behaviors are still highly relevant to college students with ADHD. This study demonstrates that temporal processing deficits are associated with academic risky behaviors, which, in turn, are associated with long-term academic impairments, such as lower GPAs and withdrawal from courses (Kent et al., 2011). Thus, the association between the TiME and risky academic behaviors is an important addition to burgeoning research demonstrating the relationship between academic impairments and temporal processing (Lagacé-Leblanc et al., 2022).

Objective Time Estimation and Risky Aggressive and Sexual Health Behaviors

A particularly novel finding from this study is the negative relationship between objective time estimation accuracy and engagement in aggressive behavior and behaviors that can confer risk to sexual health (e.g., condomless sex). The finding that better time estimation accuracy contributes to decreased engagement in particular risky behaviors provides additional support for the Wittmann and Paulus (2008) framework. According to Wittmann and Paulus (2008), individuals who exhibit a fast-internal clock (which can be denoted by the overestimation of time intervals) are more likely to engage in behaviors that are "risky" yet stimulating. Although aggressive and sexual behaviors are distinct in many ways, these types of behaviors can be considered highly stimulating (Prause et al., 2008; Rohlfs & Ramírez, 2006), and thus fit into the conceptualization of outcome behaviors that are predicted by the Wittmann and Paulus (2008) framework. Others have similarly reported that individuals who overestimate and are less accurate on time estimation tasks engage in more aggressive behaviors (Dougherty et al., 2007).

No studies to date have specifically examined the associations between temporal processing and sexual behaviors that confer greater risk to sexual health. However, sensation seeking is associated with condomless sex and non-monogamous sex in college students (Gullette & Lyons, 2005; Lalasz & Weigel, 2011). Likewise, sensation-seeking has been associated with aggressive behaviors (Wilson & Scarpa, 2011). Following the Wittmann and Paulus (2008) framework, it is possible that college students who overestimate time intervals have a faster internal clock, causing a subjective experience of time slowing and increased boredom, and are more likely to engage in "sensation-seeking" activities or risky sexual experiences to abate their feelings of slowed time.

Unsupported Hypotheses

While several hypotheses were supported by the results of this study, several other hypotheses were not supported including: (1) the TiME did not demonstrate concurrent validity with objective measures of temporal processing nor demonstrate discriminant validity for ADHD, (2) temporal processing ability, as measure on both objective and self-report measures, were not associated with ADHD symptom severity, (3) ADHD symptoms and temporal processing were not associated with risky drug or alcohol use, and (4) the interaction between ADHD symptoms and temporal processing was not related to ERB.

TiME Concurrent and Discriminant Validity

This study was the first to attempt to establish concurrent validity between a self-report measure of temporal processing and objective measures of temporal processing. However, neither the TiME total score nor any of the subscales were correlated with performance on objective time estimation and time reproduction tasks. There are several potential explanations for this finding. Foremost, a meta-analysis reported a weak correlation exists between psychological test results and self-report rating scales (r = .19) (Toplak et al., 2013). Relatedly, there is a subset of the ADHD field that argue against the use of performance-based measures of executive functions and other cognitive processes (Barkley & Murphy, 2010). Performancebased measures often lack ecological validity, such that these tasks do not capture the sustained, goal-directed behaviors that support daily functioning (Barkley & Murphy, 2010; White et al., 2022). Finally, error variance due to the lack of experimental control in the objective temporal processing tasks (described in greater detail below) may have artificially reduced the association between these two measures.

Regarding discriminant validity, the TiME was weakly correlated with ADHD symptoms. This result is surprising given that time management difficulties, which were measured on the Temporal Self-Regulation and Orientation to Time subscales, are well established in college students with ADHD (Gray et al., 2016; Wood et al., 2021). The present study utilized a non-clinical sample of college students, which may play a role in the overall lack of associations found between ADHD and subjective and objective temporal processing deficits, because the existing literature has primarily utilized clinical samples (Prevatt et al., 2011; Weissenberger et al., 2021). Past research has indicated that, compared to other young adults with ADHD, college students with ADHD are higher functioning, such that they exhibit less academic and vocational impairments (Kuriyan et al., 2013; von Wirth et al., 2022). Moreover, many colleges and universities explicitly teach time management skills and explain the importance of meeting deadlines in first-year seminar classes, thus the primarily first-year students in our study may have been taught time managements skills and experience increased salience of time due to the nature of college. Therefore, college students with ADHD may exhibit less impairments in temporal processing compared to community samples of adults with ADHD (Ptáček et al., 2022; Taş Dölek et al., 2021), thus reducing the correlation between ADHD symptoms and temporal processing could be driven by heterogeneity in the presentation of core deficits in ADHD (Murray, 2006; Sonuga-Barke et al., 2010).

According to the Triple Pathway Theory, temporal processing deficits are not present in all individuals with ADHD symptoms (Sonuga-Barke et al., 2010), so it is to be expected that significant temporal processing deficits would not exist in most individuals in this sample (as the majority did not report diagnosed ADHD, and of those that did, only a portion would be expected to have temporal processing deficits). The combination of these points – the use of a non-clinical sample, the higher functioning of college students with ADHD compared to other young adults with ADHD (Kuriyan et al., 2013; von Wirth et al., 2022) and the lack of temporal processing deficits in all individuals with ADHD (Sonuga-Barke et al., 2010) – may explain the lack of associations found between temporal processing and ADHD symptoms found in this study.

ADHD and Temporal Processing

Contrary to previous research, this study did not find an association between ADHD and objective temporal processing performance. Most past research on temporal processing in

ADHD has focused on children and adolescents with ADHD (Nejati & Yazdani, 2020; Zheng et al., 2020) or adults with ADHD (Ptacek et al., 2019) and used clinical samples of individuals with diagnosed ADHD (Ptacek et al., 2019; Zheng et al., 2020). The one previous temporal processing study in college students (Prevatt et al., 2011) also relied upon a clinical sample. Use of a non-clinical college student in the present study likely increased the heterogeneity of the objective temporal processing performances and may explain why temporal processing deficits, which are well established in youth with ADHD (Nejati & Yazdani, 2020), were not found in this sample. In fact, a meta-analysis on temporal processing deficits in youth with ADHD found that age moderated temporal processing performance, such that older adolescents exhibited less temporal processing deficits than younger children (Zheng et al., 2020). In fact, some research has indicated that children, in general, are less sensitive to time and exhibit greater difficulty estimating and judging time compared to older adolescents and adults (Droit-Volet, 2013). This finding may indicate that most adults have adequate temporal processing skills based on cognitive tasks, and it is possible that children with ADHD simply are delayed in developing temporal processing skills, though these ADHD-related impairments in temporal processing subside by adulthood. In addition, adult ADHD symptom severity has been reported to not be related to temporal processing deficits (Ptáček et al., 2022). Thus, temporal processing deficits may be less prominent in adults with ADHD.

Another possibility is that a threshold effect exists for temporal processing deficits in adults with ADHD wherein a particular threshold of ADHD symptom severity may need to be eclipsed before deficits are noticed (Salum et al., 2014). Because of the nonclinical sample utilized in the present study, despite a normal distribution of ASRS scores, this threshold may not have been met to demonstrate marked temporal processing deficits related to ADHD. Finally, the intervals selected for this study were chosen due to their frequency of use in prior ADHD temporal processing research where individuals with ADHD exhibited deficits at these intervals (Hurks & Hendriksen, 2011; Toplak et al., 2006; Walg et al., 2015). While representing the gold-standard in the field, the range of time intervals used in the present study (time reproduction: 1-5s, time estimation: 10s, 35s, 135s) may explain the lack of temporal processing deficits associated with ADHD symptoms in college students with ADHD. For example, the research regarding which time intervals individuals with ADHD are most impaired is mixed, with some studies finding that ADHD-specific temporal processing impairments are seen only in the range of milliseconds (\geq 3000ms) rather than seconds (Anobile et al., 2022; Radonovich & Mostofsky, 2004). It is possible that ADHD symptoms may be associated with temporal processing deficits in the millisecond, rather than second, range for college students with ADHD.

ADHD and TiME Interaction on Risky Behaviors

Because only weak associations were found between ADHD symptoms and the TiME, along with the lower reliability of the TiME subscale related to subjective experience of time (implicated in the framework linking temporal processing to ERB), a lack of interaction between ADHD and self-report of temporal processing on ERB was not surprising. The hypothesis that greater temporal processing deficits would differentially impact those with greater ADHD severity in ERB was based partially on the notion that greater self-reported temporal processing deficits would be associated with greater ADHD symptoms (which was not found in the present study).

Related to ERB as an outcome in the present study, the data in this study were collected during the COVID-19 pandemic at a point where some social distancing measures and disease prevention measures (e.g., regular COVID-19 testing, online classes, regulations preventing large gatherings) were still enacted in the area the study was conducted. The mean frequency of CARE drug and alcohol use in our sample was slightly lower than those reported in college student samples collected prior to the pandemic (Copeland et al., 2009; Slavin, 2013). Research has indicated that drug and alcohol use in college students has decreased during the pandemic (Benschop et al., 2021; Firkey et al., 2021; White et al., 2020). This relatively restricted range of substance use variables may have potentially reduced the associations between study variables (e.g., ADHD symptoms, temporal processing) and ERB.

Clinical Implications

This study increases our understanding of temporal processing in college students. While still very much a nascent topic, two potential clinical implications may be worthy of consideration.

Utility of the TiME

The adequate internal consistency and preliminary concurrent validity of the TiME is promising and suggests the potential for further refinement of this instrument to fill an existing clinical void. Although computerized cognitive tasks for temporal processing are well-accepted for use in ADHD research, these tasks have yet to be utilized for clinical practice. Self-report measures are preferable for use in clinical practice because they are more time efficient, more easily administered in clinical settings, and are more predictive of impairments compared to performance-based measures (Barkley & Murphy, 2010; Kamradt et al., 2014; Knouse et al., 2013). As such, the TiME provides a potentially unique niche in clinical screening.

The TiME currently is not a valid measure to screen for ADHD. However, the TiME was significantly associated with irresponsible academic behaviors, which are associated with

academic impairments (Kent et al., 2011; Langberg et al., 2016) Therefore, the TiME may be a useful tool to identify students (regardless of ADHD status) who may benefit from preventative educational supports (Claessens et al., 2007) or clinical interventions targeting time management skills, such as cognitive behavior therapy (Mongia & Hechtman, 2012; Wang et al., 2017). Future TiME research should consider the TiME's predictive validity for clinically significant outcomes (e.g., GPA, class retention, other risky behaviors) or differential diagnoses beyond ADHD (e.g., autism spectrum disorder, learning disorders) that are known to be associated with temporal processing difficulties.

Temporal Processing Deficits May Be Less Pronounced in College Students

Objective and subjective temporal processing was unrelated to ADHD symptoms in the present college student sample. It is possible that temporal processing deficits are less pronounced in college students or adults with ADHD compared to children with ADHD, who reliably exhibit such deficits (Zheng et al., 2020). This finding generates a more in-depth picture of how ADHD presents in college students and how temporal processing deficits present in adults with ADHD. Clinicians should be aware of the potential existence of temporal processing deficits in college with ADHD but may choose to put less emphasis on remediating temporal processing deficits in college students with ADHD compared to youth with ADHD.

Limitations and Future Directions

These results need to be considered in the context of several methodological limitations.

Continued Validation of TiME and Ecological Validity of Temporal Processing

The psychometrics of the TiME assessed in this study were adequate and measured using sound methodology, yet continued validation of the TiME is necessary to establish the stability and utility of the measure. Best practices in scale development research recommend measuring

test-retest reliability (Boateng et al., 2018), which was not completed in the present study due to logistical constraints with conducting longitudinal research to measure test-retest reliability. Future research should collect test-retest data on the TiME to gain stability of the measure over time. Establishing greater criterion validity for the TiME is another important step in validating the TiME, and measuring the correlation between self-report on the TiME and ecologically valid behaviors relevant to temporal processing, such as tardiness, late or missing work assignments (Langberg et al., 2011), may be particularly useful in determining the real-world utility of the measure. To date, no studies have directly examined the associations between temporal processing and academic outcomes in college students, though there is some evidence to suggest that temporal processing deficits may be linked to academic impairments. For example, temporal processing deficits in children are associated with greater academic difficulties, including mathematics (Hurks & van Loosbroek, 2014) and reading difficulties (Toplak et al., 2003; Zheng et al., 2022). Future research should consider the predictive validity of the TiME towards academic impairments.

Online versus In-person Research

Data were collected during the COVID-19 pandemic when university regulations required a halt to in-person data collection. Because of this, the present study was conducted fully online. Virtual studies have the merits of, at times, being more efficient and cost effective yet can pose challenges to experimental control, especially in designs using cognitive tasks (Hensen et al., 2021). Many steps were taken to maximize the validity of the data, including utilizing a university server that limits the number of bots that may access the study, providing clear instructions to participants about study procedures, adding attention check and validity check items to the study (Tiersma et al., 2022), and utilizing the data validity features of InquisitWeb. Nonetheless, the virtual nature of the study meant there was no true experimental control over how participants completed the study. It is possible that during the objective temporal processing tasks participants were using the stopwatch on their phone or not utilizing the sound on their computers. These behaviors may reduce the quality of the objective temporal processing data, though these effects are likely to be random (e.g., no more likely to occur in one type of demographic of participant compared to others). In-person research would have more stringent control over these factors, and future research should seek to continue assessing temporal processing in college students with ADHD in a laboratory setting. Another future direction for maximizing validity in remote research utilizing cognitive tasks over Zoom with a researcher present to proctor the administration of the exams. This hybrid model may allow for the researcher to minimize the use of phones or other distractions during remote administrations of cognitive tasks.

Measurement of ADHD

One limitation of the present study that informs a future direction of research is the measurement of ADHD symptoms. Due to an error in the upload of measures to Qualtrics, two items were unintentionally left off of the ASRS: "How often do you have difficulty waiting your turn in situations when turn taking is required?" and "How often do you interrupt others when they are busy?" These two items are part of the Hyperactivity/Impulsivity subscale of the ASRS, and more specifically, measure impulsivity (Kessler et al., 2007). Of note, a perplexing result in this study was the lack of associations between delay aversion (measured on the QDQ), impulsivity (measured on the UPPS-P), and ADHD symptoms. Because the items left off the ASRS were measuring ADHD-related impulsivity (Kessler et al., 2007), it is possible that the

correlation between these measures were artificially reduced due to the error. Thus, the results from this study may underestimate the relationship between Hyperactive/Impulsive ADHD symptoms and other study variables. Nevertheless, the ASRS in the analyses demonstrated strong internal consistency, and contained all items on the Inattention subscale. Additionally, the ASRS-6, which is the short-form of the ASRS that contains the items that are most strongly predictive of a clinical diagnosis of ADHD (Kessler et al., 2005) does not contain these two items. Future research should be sure to assess ADHD symptoms using the full ASRS measure and implement both the categorical and dimensional approach to studying ADHD. Although the dimensional approach has gained traction in the field of ADHD research (Marcus & Barry, 2011), the categorical approach (ADHD vs. non-ADHD) is still quite common in research. The use of both the categorical and dimensional approach may be the best practice to gain a more holistic understanding of the heterogeneity of ADHD (Elton et al., 2014).

ADHD-related Cognitive Processes and Temporal Processing

As a highly heterogeneous disorder, ADHD has been associated with executive functioning (Dvorsky & Langberg, 2019b) and processing speed deficits (Kibby et al., 2019) in college students. Both working memory (Zakay & Block, 2004) and processing speed (Barkley & Fischer, 2019; Walg et al., 2017) have been implicated in cognitive models for temporal processing, affecting the internal "storage" of elapsed time. Direct associations between ADHD symptoms and temporal processing were not found in the present study, and it is possible that these related skills (e.g., processing speed, working memory) may be more strongly associated with ADHD in college students than temporal processing ability itself. Investigating the manifestation of these other cognitive processes along with temporal processing in college students with ADHD may elucidate a greater understanding of the disorder and factors that most contribute to impairments.

Conclusion

Overall, this study provided preliminary support for the reliability and some concurrent validity of a novel self-report measure of temporal processing. In addition, results supported a positive association between temporal processing self-report (via the TiME) and greater engagement in academic risk behaviors. The lack of associations between ADHD symptoms and temporal processing abilities may indicate that temporal processing deficits are less pronounced in the college student population. Future research should continue to investigate if temporal processing deficits are present in college students with ADHD and how best to measure temporal processing in a clinical setting.

Tables and Figures

Table 1

Order of Included Measures

Measure	Construct	Use
ADHD Adult Rating Scale	ADHD symptom frequency/severity	Hypothesis 1 - discriminant validity Hypothesis 2 – outcome variable
		Hypothesis 3 – predictor variable
Time Estimation	Objective temporal processing	Hypothesis 1 – concurrent validity Hypothesis 2 – predictor variable
		Hypothesis 3 – predictor variable
Temporal Reproduction	Objective temporal processing	Hypothesis 1 – concurrent validity
		Hypothesis 2 – predictor variable
Quick Delay Questionnaire	Delay aversion	Hypothesis 2 – covariate
		Hypotnesis 3 – covariate
UPPS-P* (composite of lack of premeditation, positive urgency, and negative urgency subscales)	Inhibitory control	Hypothesis 2 – covariate Hypothesis 3 – covariate
Time Management and Experience Scale	Subjective temporal processing	Hypothesis 1 – scale development Hypothesis 2 – predictor variable
Experience Searc	 Subjective experience of time Temporal self-regulation 	Hypothesis 2 – predictor variable
Cognitive Appraisal of Risky Events	Engagement in risk behavior	Hypothesis 3 – outcome
Tuckman Procrastination Scale	Procrastination	Hypothesis 1 – concurrent validity
Demographics	Demographic items	Descriptive

Note. Measures were presented in the order listed on this table. The time estimation and time reproduction tasks were directly embedded into the online study through InquisitWeb. The remaining measures were directly embedded into the online study as Qualtrics surveys.

*UPPS-P - Urgency, Premeditation (lack of), Perseverance (lack of), Sensation Seeking, Positive Urgency, Impulsive Behavior Scale

Table 2

Hypothesis	Measures Included	Analyses
H1	ADHD Adult Rating Scale	Factor analysis of TiME
	Temporal Reproduction Task	Cronbach's alpha of TiME and subscales
	Time Estimation Task	Bivariate correlation matrix of TiME, ASRS,
	Time Management and Experience Scale	TPS, time estimation, and temporal reproduction
	Tuckman Procrastination Scale	
H2	ADHD Adult Rating Scale	Hierarchical linear regression
	Age	Step 1: Covariates (age, reported ADHD
	Quick Delay Questionnaire	medication use, QDQ, UPPS-P) \rightarrow Y (ASRS)
	Reported ADHD Medication Use	
	Temporal Reproduction Task	Step 2: X1 (time estimation accuracy) + X2
	Time Estimation Task	(temporal reproduction accuracy) + X3
	Time Management and Experience Scale	(temporal reproduction coefficient of variation)
	UPPS-P* Composite	$+ X4 (TiME) \rightarrow Y (ASRS)$
H3	ADHD Adult Rating Scale	Negative binomial regression
	Age	
	Cognitive Appraisal of Risky Events	X1 (time estimation accuracy) + X2 (temporal
	Quick Delay Questionnaire	reproduction accuracy) +X3 (temporal
	Reported ADHD Medication Use	reproduction coefficient of variation) + X4
	Temporal Reproduction Task	(TiME) + X5 (ASRS) + Covariates (age,
	Time Estimation Task	reported ADHD medication use, QDQ, UPPS-
	Time Management and Experience Scale UPPS-P* Composite	$P) \rightarrow Y (CARE subscale^*)$
	-	For H3b, interaction term (ASRS x TiME) is
		added as a predictor variable to the above model
Note: ASRS,	ADHD Adult Rating Scale; CARE, Cogniti	ve Appraisal of Risky Events; QDQ,

List of Included Measures and Use in Hypothesis Testing

Note: ASRS, ADHD Adult Rating Scale; CARE, Cognitive Appraisal of Risky Events; QDQ, Quick Delay Questionnaire; TiME, Time Management and Estimation Scale; UPPS-P - UPPS-P - Urgency, Premeditation (lack of), Perseverance (lack of), Sensation Seeking, Positive Urgency, Impulsive Behavior Scale

*Separate regressions will be run for each include CARE subscale (e.g., risky sexual behavior, heavy drinking, illicit drug use, aggressive and illegal behaviors, irresponsible academic/work behaviors)

Table 3

Demographic Characteristics and Descriptive Variables

	ADHD	No ADHD	Total Sample
	(<i>n</i> =17)	(<i>n</i> =198)	(N=215)
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Year in School	1.23 (0.60)	1.40 (0.81)	
Year 1	12 (70.6)	150 (75.8)	162 (75.3)
Year 2	2 (11.8)	30 (15.2)	32 (14.9)
Year 3	1 (5.9)	12 (6.1)	13 (6.0)
Year 4	1 (5.9)	5 (2.5)	6 (2.8)
Year 5	1 (5.9)	1 (0.5)	2 (0.9)
Gender			
Female	8 (47.1)	116 (58.6)	124 (55.7)
Male	8 (47.1)	80 (40.4)	88 (40.9)
Nonbinary	0 (0)	1 (0.5)	1 (0.5)
Genderfluid	1 (5.9)	0 (0)	1 (0.5)
Other not listed	0 (0)	1 (0.5)	1 (0.5)
Race			
White	7 (41.2)	128 (64.4)	135 (62.8)
Asian	4 (23.5)	24 (12.1)	28 (13.0)
Biracial	2 (11.8)	17 (8.6)	19 (8.8)
Black	2 (11.8)	12 (6.1)	14 (6.5)
Hispanic	0	12 (6.1)	12 (5.6)
Native American	1 (5.9)	3 (1.5)	4 (1.9)
Other not listed	1 (5.9)	1 (0.5)	2 (0.9)
Middle Eastern	0 (0)	1 (0.5)	1 (0.5)
	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)
Age	18.54 (0.66)	18.77 (1.04)	18.75 (1.01)
ADHD Self Report Scale 6-item Screener**	15.08 (1.93)	11.21 (3.52)	11.45 (3.55)
Depression Anxiety Stress Scale-21*	22.69 (17.52)	17.88 (12.88)	18.17 (13.20)
Tuckman Procrastination Scale	50.08 (8.29)	50.41 (9.27)	50.39 (9.19)
UPPS-P Composite			
Lack of Premeditation	23.31 (5.81)	23.47 (4.40)	23.46 (4.48)
Positive Urgency	30.69 (6.05)	29.30 (5.43)	29.39 (5.47)
Negative Urgency	28.28 (5.96)	28.46 (6.07)	28.45 (6.05)
Quick Delay Questionnaire	32.08 (3.23)	31.24 (3.50)	31.29 (3.46)
Cognitive Appraisal of Risky Events			
Drug Use	19.62 (36.21)	27.55 (117.73)	27.07 (114.49)
Alcohol Use	16.31 (24.21)	10.57 (18.34)	10.92 (18.63)
Irresponsible Academic Behavior	31.67 (40.63)	31.02 (40.94)	31.29 (40.51)
Risky Sexual Behavior	8.69 (12.66)	8.52 (18.34)	8.54 (18.02)
Aggressive Behavior	9.77 (12.22)	9.31 (21.74)	9.33 (21.24)

Note: *p < .05, **p < .001ADHD, attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder; UPPS-P, Urgency, Premeditation (lack of), Perseverance (lack of), Sensation Seeking, Positive Urgency, Impulsive Behavior Scale

Table 4

Bivariate Correlation Matrix of Descriptive Variables

	Variable	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
1	Age	1.0									
2	Year in School	.79***	1.0								
3	ASRS v1.1 total	.00	04	1.0							
4	ADHD Inattention	05	09	.92***	1.0						
5	ADHD Hyperactivity/Impulsivity	.05	.04	.89***	.64**	1.0					
6	DASS-21	.17*	.14*	.04	.01	.06	1.00				
7	Quick Delay Questionnaire	.14*	.20*	.08	.07	.08	.06	1.0			
8	UPPS-P Positive Urgency	03	01	001	.04	05	.31**	.08	1.0		
9	UPPS-P Negative Urgency	.08	.04	.08	.07	.08	.51**	.23**	.30**	1.0	
10	UPPS-P Lack of Premeditation	.14*	.11	.08	.08	.07	.01	.02	.30**	.59**	1.0

Note: *p < .05, **p < .01; p < .001 ADHD, Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder; ASRS, Adult ADHD Self-report Scale; DASS-21, Depression, Anxiety and Stress Scale - 21 Items; UPPS-P, Urgency, Premeditation (lack of), Perseverance (lack of), Sensation Seeking, Positive Urgency, Impulsive Behavior Scale

	Table 5															
	Bivariate Correlation Matrix of	Linear Re	gression	Variabl	es											
	Variable	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15
1 2	ASRS v1.0 ASRS Inattention	1.0 92***	10													
3	ASRS H/I	.89***	.64**	1.0												
4	ADHD Medication Use	10	14	04	1.0											
5	Time Estimation Accuracy	.10	.16*	.002	.25	1.0										
6	Time Reproduction Accuracy	.06	.06	.04	.06	.002	1.0									
7	Time Reproduction CV	.01	01	.04	31	03	.23**	1.0								
8	TiME Total	.08	.03	.13	.40	.01	04	06	1.0							
9	UPPS-P	.09	.08	.09	13	02	.03	.07	.29**	1.0						
10	Quick Delay Questionnaire	.08	.08	.07	10	05	01	.11	.06	.19**	1.0					
11	CARE Drug Use	.07	.01	.12	38	09	02	03	.06	.12	.19**	1.0				
12	CARE Alcohol Use	.10	.12	.05	15	02	09	.001	06	.09	04	.25**	1.0			
13	CARE Academic Risk	.03	.01	.05	11	11	02	.06	13	13	06	.15*	.11	1.0		
14	CARE Risky Sex	.03	.02	.04	22	05	05	03	.04	.10	01	.25**	.62**	.09	1.0	
15	CARE Aggressive Behaviors	.11	.09	.11	.25	05	.46**	.15*	11	06	05	.06	.26**	.28**	.33**	1.0

Note: *p<.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001; ADHD, Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder; ASRS, Adult ADHD Self Report Scale; CARE, Cognitive Appraisal of Risky Events, CV, coefficient of variation; H/I, Hyperactivity/Impulsivity; TiME, Time Management and Experience Scale; UPPS-P, Urgency, Premeditation (lack of), Perseverance (lack of), Sensation Seeking, Positive Urgency, Impulsive Behavior

Table 6

Inter-item Correlation Matrix of TiME Scale

Item	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20
1	1.0																			
2	.50**	1.0																		
3	.30**	.65**	1.0																	
4	.23**	.26**	.04	1.0																
5	.38**	.46**	.45**	.14*	1.0															
6	.38**	.59**	.43**	.12	.42**	1.0														
7	129	-23**	-	-	-	-	1.0													
			.19**	.19**	.24**	.23**														
8	.31**	.38**	.31**	.38**	.34**	.42**	-	1.0												
							.40**													
9	09	09	08	08	.40	-	-	14*	1.0											
						.18**	.31**													
10	.54**	.36**	.25**	.09	.24**	.30**	-	.21**	10	1.0										
							.21**													
11	.34**	.37**	.33**	.11	.15*	.27**	02	.20**	04	.38**	1.0									
12	.60**	.41**	.29**	.22**	.40**	.41**	-	.38**	06	.62**	.39**	1.0								
							.23**													
13	.11	.23**	.17*	.002	.09	.13	.01	.07	.03	.03	.15*	.06	1.0							
14	.13	.23**	.19**	.14*	.36**	.25**	-	.34**	.18**	.13	04	.23**	.10	1.0						
							.21**													
15	.19**	.25**	.22**	.17*	.43**	.29**	16*	.37**	.09	.09	.04	.30**	.09	.46**	1.0					
16	.06	.07	.09	.17*	.15*	.20**	14*	.29**	16*	04	01	.20**	12	.21**	.39**	1.0				
17	.01	.12	.15*	.09	.22**	.19**	.08	.15*	.07	.16*	.08	.15*	06	.38**	.38**	.23**	1.0			
18	17*	-	12	-	-	-	.54**	-	.28**	14*	.07	-	.04	-	_	-	.05	1.0		
-		.24**		.31**	.26**	.29**	-	.47**	-			.20**	-	.26**	.32**	.24**		-		
19	.40**	.57**	.36**	.35**	.42**	.55**	-	.42**	17*	.28**	.32**	.44**	.16*	.34**	.44**	.35**	.24**	-	1.0	
			••				.24**											.39**		
20	.35**	.72**	.50**	.25**	.40**	.58**	16*	.32**	03	.23**	.25**	.29**	.23**	.22**	.13	.08	.08	16*	.50**	1.0

Note: **p*<.05, ***p*<.01; TiME, Time Management and Experience Scale

Table 7

Factor Structure and Description of TiME Scale

		Factors							
	M(SD)	Self- Regulation	Time Pressure	Orientation to Time	Subjective Experience	h^2			
2. I allow myself enough time to complete my work and assignments before the deadline. ^R	3.24 (1.38)	.874	.039	.065	039	.826			
3. I often find myself completing assignments at the last minute.	4.28 (1.34)	.675	025	.014	.028	.470			
5. I am often pressed for time.	3.81 (1.26)	.339	337	.139	053	.408			
6. I often find it difficult to complete assignments on time.	3.08 (1.42)	.529	148	.120	132	.502			
19. I have trouble managing my daily schedule.	3.08 (1.44)	.418	335	.127	166	.550			
20. I usually give myself enough time to complete my work before the deadline. ^R	3.21 (1.41)	.853	.058	072	.002	.640			
14. I rarely have enough time in a day.	3.57 (1.40)	.104	581	015	018	.384			
15. I find that it usually takes me longer to complete tasks than I originally predicted.	3.86 (1.35)	.024	767	.032	016	.618			
16. I rarely know how much time is left in class without looking at a clock.	3.58 (1.28)	052	468	014	150	.247			
17. It usually feels like time is passing too quickly.	3.62 (1.29)	.022	527	.041	.216	.299			
1. I am a punctual person. ^R	2.84 (1.40)	.145	.018	.639	039	.537			
10. I typically arrive to class on time. ^R	2.12 (1.11)	073	.057	.784	053	.560			

	M(SD)	Self- Regulation	Time Pressure	Orientation to Time	Subjective Experience	h^2
11. I follow a set routine when getting ready in the morning. ^R	2.87 (1.49)	.210	.110	.447	.141	.312
12. I am rarely ready to leave on time.	2.82 (1.39)	116	194	.849	052	.740
7. It usually feels like time is moving slowly. ^R	3.93 (1.29)	032	.042	056	.661	.479
8. I often lose track of time. ^R	3.52 (1.27)	.177	311	.128	.374	.447
9. I usually feel like I have too much time on my hands. ^R	4.27 (1.27)	024	189	035	.466	.231
18. It takes a long time to get through the day.	3.77 (1.25)	030	.252	.053	.724	.647

			etors			
	Total TiME	Self- Regulation	Time Pressure	Orientation to Time	Subjective Experience	
Eigenvalue		5.818	2.019	1.673	1.297	
% total VAF	60.041	32.320	11.219	9.297	7.205	
Cronbach's Alpha	0.796	0.861	0.675	0.775	0.688	
			Correlations A	Among Factors	5	
Self-Regulation	.869**	1.0	.407**	.555**	121	
Subjective Experience	.631**		1.0	.191**	.010	
Time Orientation	.735**			1.0	024	
Time Pressure	.157*				1.0	

Note: *p < .05, **p < .01; ^R denotes reverse scored items; TiME, Time Management and Experience Scale

Table 8*TiME Scale Correlations with Validity Constructs*

		Factors								
	Total TiME	Self- Regulation	Time Pressure	Orientation to Time	Subjective Experience					
ASRS v1.1	.06	.09	.12	.04	10					
ASRS Inattention	.01	.05	.06	02	06					
ASRS Hyperactivity/Impulsivity	.11	.13	16*	.10	13					
Tuckman Procrastination Scale	.64**	.65**	.52**	.36**	11					
Time Reproduction Accuracy	04	01	07	03	05					
Time Estimation Accuracy	.01	.11	03	08	05					

Note: **p*<.05, ***p*<.01 ASRS, Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder Self Report Scale; TiME, Time Management and Experience Scale
Table 9

Temporal Processing Abilities Among College Students with and without ADHD

	ADHD	No ADHD				
	M (SD)	M (SD)	df	t	р	Cohen's d
TiME Scale						
Temporal Self-Regulation	22.64 (4.96)	20.55 (6.42)	213	1.315	.190	.332
Time Pressure	14.59 (2.85)	14.63 (3.86)	213	.045	.964	.011
Orientation to Time	10.47 (3.34)	10.66 (4.25)	213	.180	.857	.046
Subjective Experience of Time	14.71 (2.44)	15.55 (2.62)	213	1.273	.204	.322
TiME Total Score	62.41 (9.72)	61.38 (11.52)	213	.357	.722	.090
Time Estimation						
5s	13.00 (3.87)	12.96 (6.96)	213	.025	.060	.006
35s	37.50 (11.48)	39.42 (14.99)	213	.490	.092	.130
135s	146.75 (24.87)	134.11 (37.8)	213	1.560	.160	.393
Time Reproduction						
1s	1.65 (1.79)	1.25 (0.92)	213	1.582	.016	.400
2s	2.65 (1.87)	1.99 (0.95)	213	2.489	.005	.629
3s	3.27 (1.57)	2.62 (0.93)	213	2.599	.014	.657
4s	3.90 (2.34)	3.16 (0.95)	213	2.631	.017	.665
5s	4.53 (2.41)	3.75 (0.99)	213	2.661	.042	.673
Coefficient of variation	0.31 (0.30)	0.23 (0.17)	213	1.509	.025	.432

Note: ADHD, attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder; TiME, Time Management and Experience Scale

Table 10

Model	Variable	β	t	R	$\Delta \mathbf{R}^2$	ΔF	<i>p</i> -value
1	Overall Model			.497	.247	1.433	.492
	Quick Delay Questionnaire	.066	.955				.341
	UPPS-P	.083	1.198				.232
	ADHD Medication Use	099	318				.759
2	Overall Model			.891	.546	2.635	.234
	TiME Total	.606	2.079				.106
	Time Estimation Accuracy	1.299	1.707				.163
	Time Reproduction Accuracy	659	-1.719				.161
	Time Reproduction CV	1.025	2.714				.053

Hierarchical Linear Regression for Hypothesis 2

Note: TiME, Time Management and Estimation Scale; UPPS-P - UPPS-P - Urgency,

Premeditation (lack of), Perseverance (lack of), Sensation Seeking, Positive Urgency, Impulsive Behavior Scale

Table 11

Negative Binomial Regressions for Hypothesis 3 Drug Use

Drug Use						
	Variable	В	SE	р	OR	95% CI
	Age	466	12.345	.148	.627	(.334, 1.180)
	ADHD medication use	1.765	1.554	.256	5.844	(.278, 12.746)
	Quick Delay Questionnaire	.097	.714	.892	1.101	(.272, 4.467)
	UPPS-P	.039	.099	.696	1.039	(.856, 1.261)
	ASRS	.068	.086	.427	1.071	(.905, 1.268)
	TiME	103	.056	.069	.902	(.808, 1.008)
	Time Estimation Accuracy	.060	.119	.613	1.062	(.841, 1.342)
	Time Reproduction Accuracy	-1.976	3.096	.523	.139	(.045, 9.856)
	Time Reproduction CV	-4.120	6.173	.504	.016	(.009, 25.029)
	ASRS*TiME	.024	.0108	.208	1.024	(1.003, 1.046)
Alcohol Use						(
	Variable	В	SE	р	OR	95% CI
	Age	097	.087	.263	.722	(.319, 1.637)
	ADHD medication use	325	.418	.436	.908	(.766, 1.076)
	Ouick Delay Ouestionnaire	.001	.024	.976	1.001	(.955, 1.049)
	UPPS-P	.016	.009	.063	1.016	(.999, 1.034)
	ASRS	.003	.009	.727	1.003	(.986, 1.020)
	TiME	.007	.007	.336	1.007	(.993, 1.021)
	Time Estimation Accuracy	002	.005	.685	.998	(.989, 1.007)
	Time Reproduction Accuracy	.066	.063	.299	1.068	(.943, 1.208)
	Time Reproduction CV	689	.485	.155	.502	(.194, 1.298)
	ASRS*TiME	026	.0159	.107	.975	(.945, 1.006)
Academic Risk						
	Variable	В	SE	р	OR	95% CI
	Age	440	.349	.207	.644	(.325, 1.276)
	ADHD medication use	2.508	1.452	.084	12.275	(.713, 21,208)
	Ouick Delay Ouestionnaire	-1.124	.634	.076	.325	(.094, 1.125)
	UPPS-P	.130	.091	.150	1.139	(.954, 1.360)
	ASRS	.125	.049	.010	1.133	(1.030, 1.247)
	TiME	.053	.022	.015	1.054	(1.010, 1.101)
	Time Estimation Accuracy	.201	.113	.074	1.223	(.981, 1.524)
	Time Reproduction Accuracy	-3.595	3.070	.242	.027	(.062, 11.270)
	Time Reproduction CV	537	6.458	.934	.585	(.008, 12.857)
	ASRS*TiME Interaction	.005	.0085	.079	1.005	(.988, 1.022)
						(·····)
Sexual Risk						
	Variable	В	SE	p	OR	95% CI
	Age	.196	.081	.015	1.217	(1.038, 1.426)
	ADHD medication use	.387	.452	.392	1.473	(.607, 3.572)
	Quick Delay Questionnaire	.044	.026	.089	1.044	(.993, 1.098)
	UPPS-P	.011	.008	.160	1.011	(.996, 1.027)
	ASRS	009	.009	.322	.991	(.974, 1.009)

	TiME Time Estimation Accuracy Time Reproduction Accuracy Time Reproduction CV ASRS*TiME Interaction	.004 012 .138 .085 003	.008 .004 .085 .499 .0116	.552 .006 .105 .865 .779	1.004 .988 1.148 1.088 .997	(.990, 1.019) (.979, .996) (.972, 1.356) (.409, 2.894) (.974,1.020)
Aggressive Rehaviors						
Dellaviors	Variable	В	SE	р	OR	95% CI
	Age	.110	.089	.215	1.117	(.938, 1.330)
	ADHD medication use	469	.4147	.258	.626	(.278, 1.411)
	Quick Delay Questionnaire	027	.0225	.229	.973	(.931, 1.017)
	UPPS-P	.006	.0084	.468	1.006	(.990, 1.023)
	ASRS	.001	.0088	.879	1.001	(.984, 1.019)
	TiME	005	.0081	.506	.995	(.979, 1.011)
	Time Estimation Accuracy	011	.0046	.018	.989	(.980, .998)
	Time Reproduction Accuracy	.140	.0882	.113	1.150	(.968, 1.367)
	Time Reproduction CV	333	.4963	.503	.717	(.271, 1.896)
	ASRS*TiME Interaction	039	.0158	.140	.962	(.933, .992)

Note: ASRS, Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder Adult Self-report Scale; CI, confidence interval; CV, coefficient of variation; OR, odds ratio; TiME, Time Management and Estimation Scale; UPPS-P - UPPS-P - Urgency, Premeditation (lack of), Perseverance (lack of), Sensation Seeking, Positive Urgency, Impulsive Behavior Scale

Hypothesis		Support Determination	
H1	The TiME will have satisfactory internal consistency, concurrent validity with the objective cognitive measures of temporal processing and with a conceptually relevant, related construct (procrastination), discriminant validity for ADHD	Partially Supported	TiME is reliable and demonstrated adequate internal consistency (α =.74). TiME exhibited concurrent validity with procrastination (<i>r</i> =.64), but no validity with objective temporal processing or ADHD.
H2	Greater ADHD severity will be associated with greater objective temporal processing deficits and a subjective experience of time passing slowly	Not Supported	ADHD symptoms were not significantly associated with objective temporal processing deficits nor subjective, self-report of temporal processing.
НЗа	Objective temporal processing deficits and a subjective experience of time passing more slowly will be associated with greater ERB	Partially Supported	Subjective temporal processing was associated with greater engagement in irresponsible academic behavior. Accurate objective time estimation performance was associated with decreased sexual risk and aggressive behavior.
H3b	ADHD severity will exacerbate the relationship between the subjective experience of time passing slowly and ERB	Not Supported	ADHD symptom severity did not moderate the relationship between subjective experience of time and ERB.

Note: ADHD, Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder; ERB, Engagement in Risky Behaviors





Scree Plot

Appendices: TiME Pilot Testing and Measures

Appendix I: Time Management and Estimation (TiME) Scale Initial Item Pool

Instructions: Please read the following statements carefully and rate your agreement with how much each statement describes you using the following scale: 1 – Strongly Disagree, 2 – Disagree, 3 – Slightly Disagree, 4 – Slightly Agree, 5 – Agree, 6 – Strongly Agree

- 1. I am a punctual person.
- 2. I am able to determine how much time it will take me to complete my homework.
- 3. I often find myself completing assignments at the last minute.
- 4. I usually have an accurate idea of what time it is without looking at a clock.
- 5. I don't know what to do with my time.
- 6. I often find it difficult to complete assignments on time.
- 7. In class, it feels like time is moving very slowly.
- 8. I rarely know how much time is left in class without looking at the clock.
- 9. I can accurately predict long I have been waiting in line.
- 10. I often lose track of time
- 11. I am able to accurately estimate how much time is left on an exam.
- 12. I usually feel like I have too much time on my hands.
- 13. I usually arrive to class on-time.
- 14. I follow a set routine when getting ready in the morning
- 15. I have difficulty getting ready to leave for class/work on time.
- 16. I wake up right before my alarm goes off in the morning
- 17. I rarely have enough time in a day.
- 18. I find that it usually takes me longer to complete assignments than I originally predicted.
- 19. I have trouble managing my daily schedule.
- 20. I feel like time is passing too quickly.
- 21. I have trouble estimating how long it will take me to walk/drive to class.
- 22. Events scheduled a month in advance often arrive sooner than I anticipated.
- 23. I don't know what to do with my time.
- 24. I can accurately estimate the length of a movie I just watched
- 25. I have trouble managing my daily schedule.

Appendix II: Initial TiME Factor Analysis Steps





Appendix III: Initial TiME Factor Analysis Results

	Factors					
	M(SD)	Self- Regulation	Subjective Experience	Time Orientation	Time Pressure	h^2
1. I am a punctual person	4.01 (1.27)	.863	.066	.155	.150	.782
13. I usually arrive to class on-time	4.79 (1.04)	.675	062	152	.056	.435
2. I usually arrive to class on time.	4.27 (1.04)	.534	079	307	174	.383
14. I follow a set routine when getting ready in the morning	4.1 (1.28)	.512	.469	.003	.149	.544
15. I have difficulty getting ready to leave for class/work on time. (R)	3.73 (1.39)	.469	.031	.259	194	.403
25. I have trouble managing my daily schedule. (R)	4.01 (1.15)	.399	.166	.328	308	.501
12. I usually feel like I have too much time on my hands. (R)	4.15 (1.16)	410	.749	121	.023	.592
23. I don't know what to do with my time. (R)	4.05 (1.11)	014	.714	.308	.011	.544
7. It feels like time is moving very slowly. (R)	4.27 (1.19)	018	.568	192	329	.488
17. I rarely have enough time in a day	3.75 (1.17)	.002	.523	216	.182	.385
10. I often lose track of time.	3.13 (1.25)	.051	.163	0.837	-0.213	.804
19. I rarely know how much time is left in class without looking at a clock.	3.34 (1.22)	014	063	0.649	-0.12	.435
20. I feel like time is passing too quickly.	4.21 (1.24)	.124	.229	-0.503	0.105	.363

4. I usually have an accurate idea of what time it is without looking at a clock.	3.62 (1.19)	016	053	0.486	0.142	.248
5. I am often pressed for time.	3.65 (1.25)	081	.117	096	0.639	.470
16. I wake up right before my alarm goes off in the morning.	3.17 (1.28)	.233	078	.118	0.454	.231
18. I find that it usually takes me longer to complete assignments than I originally predicted.	3.25 (1.22)	.066	080	.091	-0.446	.239
6. I often find it difficult to complete assignments on time.	3.04 (1.13)	332	008	.011	0.443	.363
3. I often find myself completing assignments at the last minute.	3.85 (1.34)	345	148	262	0.364	.445

	Factors					
	Self- Regulation	Subjective Experience	Time Orientation	Time Pressure		
Rotated Eigenvalue	2.852	2.251	2.449	1.932		
% total VAF	15.01%	11.85%	12.89%	10.17%		
Cronbach's Alpha	.770	.709	.196	.170		
		Correlations	Among Factors			
Self-Regulation	-	0.154	0.109	-0.195		
Subjective Experience		-	-0.126	-0.037		
Time Orientation			-	-0.126		
Time Pressure				-		

Appendix IV: Revising TiME Item Pool

Items Removed from Initial TiME (20-item pool):

- I allow myself enough time to arrive at appointments.
- Events scheduled a month in advance take a long time to arrive.
- I have difficulty getting ready to leave for class/work on time.
- I have trouble completing assignments in the amount of time I originally predicted.
- Events scheduled a month in advance often arrive sooner than I anticipated.

Items Added to Revised TiME:

- I allow myself enough time to complete my work and assignments before the deadline.
- I am rarely ready to leave on time.
- I find that it usually takes me longer to complete tasks than I originally predicted.
- It takes a long time to get through the day.
- I usually give myself enough time to complete my work before the deadline.

Appendix V: ADHD Adult Self-report Scale

ADHD Adult Self-report Scale (ASRS)

Please answer the questions below, rating yourself on each of the criteria shown using the scale on the right side of the page. As you answer each question, select the option that best describes how you have felt and conducted yourself over the past 6 months on a scale of: 1 - Never, 2 - Rarely, 3 - Sometimes, 4 - Often, 5 - Very Often

- 1. How often do you have trouble wrapping up the final details of a project, once the challenging parts have been done?
- 2. How often do you have difficulty getting things in order when you have to do a task that requires organization?
- 3. How often do you have problems remembering appointments or obligations?
- 4. How often do you fidget or squirm with your hands or feet when you have to sit down for a long time?
- 5. When you have a task that requires a lot of thought, how often do you avoid or delay getting started?
- 6. How often do you feel overly active and compelled to do things, like you were driven by a motor?
- 7. How often do you make careless mistakes when you have to work on a boring or difficult project?
- 8. How often do you have difficulty keeping your attention when you are doing boring or repetitive work?
- 9. How often do you have difficulty concentrating on what people say to you, even when they are speaking to you directly?
- 10. How often do you misplace or have difficulty finding things at home or at work?
- 11. How often are you distracted by activity or noise around you?
- 12. How often do you leave your seat in meetings or other situations in which you are expected to remain seated?
- 13. How often do you feel restless or fidgety?
- 14. How often do you have difficulty unwinding and relaxing when you have time to yourself?
- 15. How often do you find yourself talking too much when you are in social situations?
- 16. When you're in a conversation, how often do you find yourself finishing the sentences of the people you are talking to, before they can finish them themselves?

Additional ADHD Items

Please answer the following questions about your history of ADHD diagnosis. Yes -1, No -2

- 1. Have you ever been diagnosed with Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) *or* Attention Deficit Disorder (ADD) by a medical or mental health professional?
- 2. Have you ever been prescribed medication for ADHD?
- 3. Do you currently take medication for ADHD?
- 4. Did you take your medication for ADHD today?

Appendix VI: Quick Delay Discounting

Quick Delay Discounting

Please answer the questions below, rating yourself on each of the criteria shown using the scale on the right side of the page. As you answer each question, select the option that best describes you: 1 - Not like me at all, 2 - Somewhat unlike me, 3 - Neither like or unlike me, 4 - Somewhat like me, 5 - Very like me

- 1. Even if I have to wait a long time for something I won't give up if it is important to me.
- 2. I am usually calm when I have to wait in queues.
- 3. I will often chooses a task because it is beneficial in the long term even if it doesn't offer immediate reward.
- 4. I feel relaxed when waiting for things.
- 5. I often give up on things that I cannot have immediately.
- 6. I hate waiting for things.
- 7. I try to avoid tasks that will only benefit me in the long term and don't have any immediate benefits.
- 8. I feel frustrated when I have to wait for someone else to be ready before I can do something.
- 9. Having to wait for things makes me feel stressed and tense.
- 10. The future is not important to me, I only consider the immediate consequences of my actions

Appendix VII: UPPS-P Scale

UPPS-P

Below are a number of statements that describe ways in which people act and think. For each statement, please indicate how much you agree or disagree with the statement, using the following scale: Strongly Disagree -1, Disagree -2, Agree -3, Strongly Agree -4

- 1. I have a reserved and cautious attitude toward life.
- 2. I have trouble controlling my impulses.
- 3. When I am very happy, I can't seem to stop myself from doing things that can have bad consequences.
- 4. My thinking is usually careful and purposeful.
- 5. I have trouble resisting my cravings (for food, cigarettes, etc.).
- 6. When I am in great mood, I tend to get into situations that could cause me problems.
- 7. I am not one of those people who blurt out things without thinking.
- 8. I often get involved in things I later wish I could get out of
- 9. When I am very happy, I tend to do things that may cause problems in my life.
- 10. I like to stop and think things over before I do them.
- 11. When I feel bad, I will often do things I later regret in order to make myself feel better now.
- 12. I tend to lose control when I am in a great mood.
- 13. I don't like to start a project until I know exactly how to proceed.
- 14. Sometimes when I feel bad, I can't seem to stop what I am doing even though it is making me feel worse.
- 15. When I am really ecstatic, I tend to get out of control
- 16. I tend to value and follow a rational, "sensible" approach to things.
- 17. When I am upset I often act without thinking.
- 18. Others would say I make bad choices when I am extremely happy about something.
- 19. I usually make up my mind through careful reasoning.
- 20. When I feel rejected, I will often say things that I later regret.
- 21. Others are shocked or worried about the things I do when I am feeling very excited
- 22. I am a cautious person.
- 23. It is hard for me to resist acting on my feelings.
- 24. When I get really happy about something, I tend to do things that can have bad consequences.
- 25. Before I get into a new situation I like to find out what to expect from it.
- 26. I often make matters worse because I act without thinking when I am upset.
- 27. When overjoyed, I feel like I can't stop myself from going overboard.
- 28. I usually think carefully before doing anything.
- 29. When I am really excited, I tend not to think of the consequences of my actions.
- 30. In the heat of an argument, I will often say things that I later regret.
- 31. I tend to act without thinking when I am really excited.
- 32. I always keep my feelings under control.

- 33. When I am really happy, I often find myself in situations that I normally wouldn't be comfortable with.
- 34. Before making up my mind, I consider all the advantages and disadvantages.
- 35. When I am very happy, I feel like it is ok to give in to cravings or overindulge.
- 36. Sometimes I do impulsive things that I later regret.
- 37. I am surprised at the things I do while in a great mood

Appendix VIII: Time Management and Experience Scale

Time Management and Experience (TiME) Scale

Please read the following statements carefully. As you answer each question, select the option that best describes how you have felt and conducted yourself over the past 6 months, using the following scale: 1 – Strongly Disagree, 2 – Disagree, 3 – Slightly Disagree, 4 – Slightly Agree, 5 – Agree, 6 – Strongly Agree

- 1. I am a punctual person.
- 2. I allow myself enough time to complete my work and assignments before the deadline.
- 3. I often find myself completing assignments at the last minute.
- 4. I usually have an accurate idea of what time it is without looking at a clock.*
- 5. I am often pressed for time.
- 6. I often find it difficult to complete assignments on time.
- 7. It usually feels like time is moving slowly.
- 8. I often lose track of time.
- 9. I usually feel like I have too much time on my hands.
- 10. I typically arrive to class on time.
- 11. I follow a set routine when getting ready in the morning.
- 12. I am rarely ready to leave on time.
- 13. I wake up right before my alarm goes off in the morning.*
- 14. I rarely have enough time in a day.
- 15. I find that it usually takes me longer to complete tasks than I originally predicted.
- 16. I rarely know how much time is left in class without looking at a clock.
- 17. It usually feels like time is passing too quickly.
- 18. It takes a long time to get through the day.
- 19. I have trouble managing my daily schedule
- 20. I usually give myself enough time to complete my work before the deadline.

*Items removed after factor analysis

Appendix IX: Tuckman Procrastination Scale

Tuckman Procrastination Scale (TPS)

Please read the following statements carefully and rate your agreement with how much each statement describes you using the following scale: 1 - Strongly Disagree, 2 - Disagree, 3 - Neither Agree nor Disagree, 4 - Agree, 5 - Strongly Agree

- 1. I needlessly delay finishing jobs, even when they're important
- 2. I postpone starting in on things I don't like to do.
- 3. When I have a deadline, I wait until the last minute.
- 4. I delay making tough decisions.
- 5. I keep putting off improving my work habits.
- 6. I manage to find an excuse for not doing something.
- 7. I put the necessary time into even boring tasks, like studying
- 8. I am an incurable time waster.
- 9. I'm a time waster now but I can't seem to do anything about it.
- 10. When something's too tough to tackle, I believe in postponing it.
- 11. I promise myself I'll do something and then drag my feet.
- 12. Whenever I make a plan of action, I follow it.
- 13. Even though I hate myself if I don't get started, it doesn't get me going.
- 14. I always finish important jobs with time to spare.
- 15. I get stuck in neutral even though I know how important it is to get started.
- 16. Putting something off until tomorrow is not the way I do it.

Appendix X: Cognitive Appraisal of Risky Events

Cognitive Appraisal of Risky Events (CARE)

Past Frequency

For each of the activities listed below, please indicate how many times you have participated in this activity in the past six (6) months.

	Number of Times in
	Past 6 Months
1. Tried/used drugs other than alcohol or marijuana	
2. Missed class or work	
3. Grabbed, pushed, or shoved someone	
4. Left a social event with someone I have just met	
5. Drove after drinking alcohol	
6. Made a scene in public	
7. Drank more than 5 alcoholic beverages in one hour	
8. Not studied for exam or quiz	
9. Drank alcohol too quickly	
10. Disturbed the peace	
11. Damaged/destroyed public property	
12. Sex without protection against pregnancy	
13. Left tasks or assignments until the last minute	
14. Hit someone with a weapon or object	
15. Sex without protection against sexually transmitted diseases	
16. Failed to do assignments	
17. Slapped someone	
18. Not studied or worked hard enough	
19. Punched or hit someone with fist	
20. Used cannabis	
21. How many different sexual partners have you had in the	
past 6 months?	
22. Mixed drugs and alcohol	
23. Got into a fight or argument	
24. Involved in sexual activities without my consent	
25. Played drinking games	
26. Sex with someone I have just met or don't know well	
27. Used stimulant medication in a way that was not prescribed	

Appendix XI: Demographics

Demographic Items

Please carefully read and answer the following questions.

- 1. How old are you?
- 2. What is your current year in college?
 - 1- Freshman
 - 2- Sophomore
 - 3- Junior
 - 4- Senior
 - 5- 5th year
- 3. What sex were you assigned at birth?
 - 1- Female
 - 2- Male
 - 3- Intersex
- 4. Which term do you use to describe your gender identity?
 - 1- Woman or female
 - 2- Man or male
 - 3- Trans woman
 - 4- Trans man
 - 5- Non-binary
 - 6- Genderfluid
 - 7- Intersex
 - 8- My identity is not listed above
- 5. How do you usually describe yourself?
 - 1- American Indian or Native Alaskan
 - 2- Asian or Asian American
 - 3- Black or African American
 - 4- Hispanic or Latino/a/x
 - 5- Middle Eastern/North African (MENA) or Arab Origin
 - 6- Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander Native
 - 7- White
 - 8- Biracial or Multiracial
 - 9- My identity is not listed above

References

- Adler, L. A., Spencer, T., Faraone, S. V., Kessler, R. C., Howes, M. J., Biederman, J., & Secnik,
 K. (2006). Validity of pilot Adult ADHD Self- Report Scale (ASRS) to Rate Adult
 ADHD symptoms. Annals of Clinical Psychiatry: Official Journal of the American
 Academy of Clinical Psychiatrists, 18(3), 145–148.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/10401230600801077
- American College Health Association. (2020). American College Health Association-National College Health Assessment III: Reference Group Executive Summary Fall 2020.
- Anobile, G., Bartoli, M., Pfanner, C., Masi, G., Cioni, G., & Tinelli, F. (2022). Auditory time thresholds in the range of milliseconds but not seconds are impaired in ADHD. *Scientific Reports*, 12(1), 1352. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-05425-2
- Anthoine, E., Moret, L., Regnault, A., Sébille, V., & Hardouin, J.-B. (2014). Sample size used to validate a scale: A review of publications on newly-developed patient reported outcomes measures. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, *12*, 2. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12955-014-0176-2
- Argenyi, M. S., & James, T. G. (2021). Sexual risk behavior and sexually transmitted infections among college students with disabilities. *Sexually Transmitted Diseases*. https://doi.org/10.1097/OLQ.00000000001443
- Arnold, L. E., Hodgkins, P., Kahle, J., Madhoo, M., & Kewley, G. (2020). Long-Term Outcomes of ADHD: Academic Achievement and Performance. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 24(1), 73–85. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054714566076

- Bader, F., Kochen, W. R., Kraus, M., & Wiener, M. (2019). The dissociation of temporal processing behavior in concussion patients: Stable motor and dynamic perceptual timing. *Cortex*, 119, 215–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2019.04.019
- Baker, L., Prevatt, F., & Proctor, B. (2012). Drug and Alcohol Use in College Students With and Without ADHD. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 16(3), 255–263. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054711416314
- Barkley, R. A., Edwards, G., Laneri, M., Fletcher, K., & Metevia, L. (2001). Executive functioning, temporal discounting, and sense of time in adolescents with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and oppositional defiant disorder (ODD). *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 29(6), 541–556. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1012233310098
- Barkley, R. A., & Fischer, M. (2019). Time Reproduction Deficits at Young Adult Follow-Up in Childhood ADHD: The Role of Persistence of Disorder and Executive Functioning. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 44(1), 50–70. https://doi.org/10.1080/87565641.2018.1541992
- Barkley, R. A., Koplowitz, S., Anderson, T., & McMurray, M. B. (1997). Sense of time in children with ADHD: Effects of duration, distraction, and stimulant medication. *Journal* of the International Neuropsychological Society: JINS, 3(4), 359–369.
- Barkley, R. A., & Murphy, K. R. (2010). Impairment in occupational functioning and adult
 ADHD: The predictive utility of executive function (EF) ratings versus EF tests. Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology: The Official Journal of the National Academy of Neuropsychologists, 25(3), 157–173. https://doi.org/10.1093/arclin/acq014
- Beaufort, I. N., De Weert-Van Oene, G. H., Buwalda, V. A. J., de Leeuw, J. R. J., & Goudriaan,A. E. (2017). The Depression, Anxiety and Stress Scale (DASS-21) as a Screener for

Depression in Substance Use Disorder Inpatients: A Pilot Study. *European Addiction Research*, 23(5), 260–268. https://doi.org/10.1159/000485182

Benschop, A., van Bakkum, F., & Noijen, J. (2021). Changing Patterns of Substance Use During the Coronavirus Pandemic: Self-Reported Use of Tobacco, Alcohol, Cannabis, and Other Drugs. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 12.

https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt.2021.633551

- Berry, M. S., Sweeney, M. M., Dolan, S. B., Johnson, P. S., Pennybaker, S. J., Rosch, K. S., & Johnson, M. W. (2020). Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder Symptoms Are Associated with Greater Delay Discounting of Condom-Protected Sex and Money.
 Archives of Sexual Behavior. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-020-01698-8
- Block, R. A. (1990). Models of psychological time. In *Cognitive models of psychological time* (pp. 1–35). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Block, R. A., Grondin, S., & Zakay, D. (2018). Prospective and Retrospective Timing Processes: Theories, Methods, and Findings (pp. 32–51). Brill. https://doi.org/10.1163/9789004280205_003
- Boateng, G. O., Neilands, T. B., Frongillo, E. A., Melgar-Quiñonez, H. R., & Young, S. L.
 (2018). Best Practices for Developing and Validating Scales for Health, Social, and Behavioral Research: A Primer. *Frontiers in Public Health*, *6*, 149. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2018.00149

Boyer, T. W. (2006). The development of risk-taking: A multi-perspective review. *Developmental Review*, 26(3), 291–345. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2006.05.002

Cáceda, R., Carbajal, J. M., Salomon, R. M., Moore, J. E., Perlman, G., Padala, P. R., Hasan, A., & Delgado, P. L. (2020). Slower perception of time in depressed and suicidal patients.

European Neuropsychopharmacology, *40*, 4–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2020.09.004

- Chen, F., Curran, P. J., Bollen, K. A., Kirby, J., & Paxton, P. (2008). An Empirical Evaluation of the Use of Fixed Cutoff Points in RMSEA Test Statistic in Structural Equation Models. *Sociological Methods & Research*, *36*(4), 462–494. https://doi.org/10.1177/0049124108314720
- Claessens, B. J. C., van Eerde, W., Rutte, C. G., & Roe, R. A. (2007). A review of the time management literature. *Personnel Review*, 36(2), 255–276. https://doi.org/10.1108/00483480710726136
- Clare, S., Helps, S., & Sonuga-Barke, E. J. S. (2010). The quick delay questionnaire: A measure of delay aversion and discounting in adults. *Attention Deficit and Hyperactivity Disorders*, 2(1), 43–48. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12402-010-0020-4
- Clemow, D. B., & Walker, D. J. (2014). The Potential for Misuse and Abuse of Medications in ADHD: A Review. *Postgraduate Medicine*, 126(5), 64–81. https://doi.org/10.3810/pgm.2014.09.2801
- Coghill, D. R., Seth, S., & Matthews, K. (2014). A comprehensive assessment of memory, delay aversion, timing, inhibition, decision making and variability in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: Advancing beyond the three-pathway models. *Psychological Medicine*, 44(9), 1989–2001. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291713002547
- Coghlan, A. (2009). Time perception at root of hyperactivity disorder. *New Scientist*, 202(2711), 12. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0262-4079(09)61478-0

- Copeland, A. L., Kulesza, M., Patterson, S. M., & Terlecki, M. A. (2009). College Student Smokers' Cognitive Appraisal of High-Risk Activities. *Journal of American College Health*, 58(3), 203–212. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448480903295300
- Danielson, M. L., Bitsko, R. H., Ghandour, R. M., Holbrook, J. R., Kogan, M. D., & Blumberg,
 S. J. (2018). Prevalence of Parent-Reported ADHD Diagnosis and Associated Treatment
 Among U.S. Children and Adolescents, 2016. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology : The Official Journal for the Society of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology, American Psychological Association, Division 53*, 47(2), 199–212.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/15374416.2017.1417860
- de Zeeuw, P., Weusten, J., van Dijk, S., van Belle, J., & Durston, S. (2012). Deficits in cognitive control, timing and reward sensitivity appear to be dissociable in ADHD. *PloS One*, 7(12), e51416. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0051416
- Di Lernia, D., Serino, S., Pezzulo, G., Pedroli, E., Cipresso, P., & Riva, G. (2018). Feel the Time. Time Perception as a Function of Interoceptive Processing. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 12. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnhum.2018.00074
- Dougherty, D. M., Dew, R. E., Mathias, C. W., Marsh, D. M., Addicott, M. A., & Barratt, E. S. (2007). Impulsive and premeditated subtypes of aggression in conduct disorder:
 Differences in time estimation. *Aggressive Behavior*, *33*(6), 574–582.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/ab.20219
- Drakulić, B., Tenjović, L., & Lečić-Toševski, D. (2003). Time Integration Questionnaire
 Construction and empirical validation of a new instrument for the assessment of
 subjective time experience. *European Journal of Psychological Assessment*, 19(2), 101–
 116. https://doi.org/10.1027//1015-5759.19.2.101

Droit-Volet, S. (2013). Time perception in children: A neurodevelopmental approach. *Neuropsychologia*, 51(2), 220–234. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2012.09.023

- DuPaul, G. J., Weyandt, L. L., O'Dell, S. M., & Varejao, M. (2009). College students with ADHD: Current status and future directions. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 13(3), 234– 250. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054709340650
- Dvorsky, M. R., & Langberg, J. M. (2019a). Cigarette and e-cigarette use and social perceptions over the transition to college: The role of ADHD symptoms. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, 33(3), 318–330. https://doi.org/10.1037/adb0000450
- Dvorsky, M. R., & Langberg, J. M. (2019b). Predicting Impairment in College Students With ADHD: The Role of Executive Functions. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, *23*(13), 1624– 1636. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054714548037
- Elmore, A., Nikolas, M., & Canu, W. (2018). Positive alcohol expectancies mediate associations between ADHD behaviors and alcohol-related problems among college students. *ADHD Attention Deficit and Hyperactivity Disorders*, 10(1), 65–75.
 - https://doi.org/10.1007/s12402-017-0231-z
- Elton, A., Alcauter, S., & Gao, W. (2014). Network connectivity abnormality profile supports a categorical-dimensional hybrid model of ADHD. *Human Brain Mapping*, 35(9), 4531– 4543. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.22492
- Erdman, D., & Sinko, A. (2008). Zero-Inflated Poisson and Zero-Inflated Negative Binomial Models Using the COUNTREG Procedure.
- Fair, D. A., Bathula, D., Nikolas, M. A., & Nigg, J. T. (2012). Distinct neuropsychological subgroups in typically developing youth inform heterogeneity in children with ADHD.

Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 109(17), 6769–6774. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1115365109

Ferrari, J., & Sanders, S. (2006). Procrastination Rates Among Adults With and Without AD/HD: A Pilot Study. *Counseling and Clinical Psychology Journal*, *3*, 2–9.

Firkey, M. K., Sheinfil, A. Z., & Woolf-King, S. E. (2021). Substance use, sexual behavior, and general well-being of U.S. college students during the COVID-19 pandemic: A brief report. *Journal of American College Health*, 0(0), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2020.1869750

Flory, K., Molina, B. S. G., Pelham, W. E., Gnagy, E., & Smith, B. (2006). Childhood ADHD predicts risky sexual behavior in young adulthood. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology: The Official Journal for the Society of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology, American Psychological Association, Division 53*, 35(4), 571– 577. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15374424jccp3504_8

- Francisco, J., Ferrari, J., Díaz-Morales, J., & Ferrari, J. (2013). *More Time to Procrastinators: The Role of Time Perspective*. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-07368-2_20
- Fromme, K., E Stroot, & Kaplan, D. (1993). Comprehensive effects of alcohol: Development and psychometric assessment of a new expectancy questionnaire. 5(1), 19–26. https://doi.org/10.1037/1040-3590.5.1.19

Fromme, K., Katz, E. C., & Rivet, K. (1997). Outcome Expectancies and Risk-Taking Behavior. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 21(4), 421–442. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1021932326716

- Garcia, M., Rouchy, E., Galéra, C., Tzourio, C., & Michel, G. (2020). The relation between ADHD symptoms, perceived stress and binge drinking in college students. *Psychiatry Research*, 284, 112689. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2019.112689
- Geurten, M., Catale, C., Gay, P., Deplus, S., & Billieux, J. (2021). Measuring Impulsivity in Children: Adaptation and Validation of a Short Version of the UPPS-P Impulsive Behaviors Scale in Children and Investigation of its Links With ADHD. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 25(1), 105–114. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054718775831
- Gibbon, J. (1977). Scalar expectancy theory and Weber's law in animal timing. *Psychological Review*, 84(3), 279–325. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.84.3.279
- Glorfeld, L. W. (1995). An Improvement on Horn's Parallel Analysis Methodology for Selecting the Correct Number of Factors to Retain. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 55(3), 377–393. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013164495055003002
- Goffer, A., Cohen, M., & Maeir, A. (2020). Occupational experiences of college students with ADHD: A qualitative study. *Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1080/11038128.2020.1856182
- Gray, S. A., Fettes, P., Woltering, S., Mawjee, K., & Tannock, R. (2016). Symptom
 Manifestation and Impairments in College Students With ADHD. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 49(6), 616–630. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022219415576523
- Gray, S., Woltering, S., Mawjee, K., & Tannock, R. (2014). The Adult ADHD Self-Report Scale (ASRS): Utility in college students with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *PeerJ*, 2, e324. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.324

- Grondin, S. (2010). Timing and time perception: A review of recent behavioral and neuroscience findings and theoretical directions. *Attention, Perception, & Psychophysics*, 72(3), 561– 582. https://doi.org/10.3758/APP.72.3.561
- Gropper, R. J., & Tannock, R. (2009). A Pilot Study of Working Memory and Academic Achievement in College Students With ADHD. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 12(6), 574–581. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054708320390
- Gullette, D. L., & Lyons, M. A. (2005). Sexual Sensation Seeking, Compulsivity, and HIV Risk Behaviors in College Students. *Journal of Community Health Nursing*, 22(1), 47–60. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327655jchn2201_5
- Häfner, A., Oberst, V., & Stock, A. (2014). Avoiding procrastination through time management: An experimental intervention study. *Educational Studies*, 40(3), 352–360. https://doi.org/10.1080/03055698.2014.899487
- Hayton, J. C., Allen, D. G., & Scarpello, V. (2004). Factor Retention Decisions in Exploratory Factor Analysis: A Tutorial on Parallel Analysis. *Organizational Research Methods*, 7(2), 191–205. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428104263675
- Henry, J. D., & Crawford, J. R. (2005). The short-form version of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS-21): Construct validity and normative data in a large non-clinical sample. *The British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 44(Pt 2), 227–239. https://doi.org/10.1348/014466505X29657
- Hensen, B., Mackworth-Young, C. R. S., Simwinga, M., Abdelmagid, N., Banda, J., Mavodza, C., Doyle, A. M., Bonell, C., & Weiss, H. A. (2021). Remote data collection for public health research in a COVID-19 era: Ethical implications, challenges and opportunities. *Health Policy and Planning*, *36*(3), 360–368. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czaa158

Hill, J. C., & Schoener, E. P. (1996). Age-dependent decline of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 153(9), 1143–1146. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.153.9.1143

Himpel, S., Banaschewski, T., Grüttner, A., Becker, A., Heise, A., Uebel, H., Albrecht, B.,
Rothenberger, A., & Rammsayer, T. (2009). Duration discrimination in the range of
milliseconds and seconds in children with ADHD and their unaffected siblings. *Psychological Medicine*, 39(10), 1745–1751.
https://doi.org/10.1017/S003329170900542X

- Houghton, S., Durkin, K., Ang, R., Taylor, M., & Brandtman, M. (2011). Measuring Temporal Self-Regulation in Children With and Without Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder: Sense of Time in Everyday Contexts. *European Journal of Psychological Assessment*, 27, 88–94. https://doi.org/10.1027/1015-5759/a000048
- Huggins, S. P., Rooney, M. E., & Chronis-Tuscano, A. (2015). Risky Sexual Behavior Among
 College Students With ADHD: Is the Mother–Child Relationship Protective? *Journal of Attention Disorders*, *19*(3), 240–250. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054712459560
- Hurks, P. P. M., & Hendriksen, J. G. M. (2011). Retrospective and prospective time deficits in childhood ADHD: The effects of task modality, duration, and symptom dimensions. *Child Neuropsychology: A Journal on Normal and Abnormal Development in Childhood and Adolescence*, *17*(1), 34–50. https://doi.org/10.1080/09297049.2010.514403
- Hurks, P. P. M., & van Loosbroek, E. (2014). Time Estimation Deficits in Childhood
 Mathematics Difficulties. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 47(5), 450–461.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0022219412468161

- Isaksson, J., Stickley, A., Koposov, R., & Ruchkin, V. (2018). The danger of being inattentive ADHD symptoms and risky sexual behaviour in Russian adolescents. *European Psychiatry*, 47, 42–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpsy.2017.09.004
- Isaksson, S., Salomäki, S., Tuominen, J., Arstila, V., Falter-Wagner, C. M., & Noreika, V. (2018). Is there a generalized timing impairment in Autism Spectrum Disorders across time scales and paradigms? *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 99, 111–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2018.01.017
- Kamradt, J. M., Ullsperger, J. M., & Nikolas, M. A. (2014). Executive function assessment and adult attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: Tasks versus ratings on the Barkley deficits in executive functioning scale. *Psychological Assessment*, 26(4), 1095–1105. https://doi.org/10.1037/pas0000006
- Kent, K. M., Pelham, W. E., Molina, B. S. G., Sibley, M. H., Waschbusch, D. A., Yu, J., Gnagy,
 E. M., Biswas, A., Babinski, D. E., & Karch, K. M. (2011). The Academic Experience of
 Male High School Students with ADHD. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *39*(3),
 451–462. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-010-9472-4
- Kessler, R. C., Adler, L. A., Gruber, M. J., Sarawate, C. A., Spencer, T., & Van Brunt, D. L. (2007). Validity of the World Health Organization Adult ADHD Self-Report Scale (ASRS) Screener in a representative sample of health plan members. *International Journal of Methods in Psychiatric Research*, *16*(2), 52–65. https://doi.org/10.1002/mpr.208
- Kessler, R. C., Adler, L., Ames, M., Demler, O., Faraone, S., Hiripi, E., Howes, M. J., Jin, R.,Secnik, K., Spencer, T., Ustun, T. B., & Walters, E. E. (2005). The World HealthOrganization Adult ADHD Self-Report Scale (ASRS): A short screening scale for use in

the general population. *Psychological Medicine*, *35*(2), 245–256. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0033291704002892

- Kibby, M. Y., Vadnais, S. A., & Jagger-Rickels, A. C. (2019). Which components of processing speed are affected in ADHD subtypes? *Child Neuropsychology: A Journal on Normal and Abnormal Development in Childhood and Adolescence*, 25(7), 964–979. https://doi.org/10.1080/09297049.2018.1556625
- Klein, R. G., Mannuzza, S., Olazagasti, M. A. R., Roizen, E., Hutchison, J. A., Lashua, E. C., & Castellanos, F. X. (2012). Clinical and functional outcome of childhood attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder 33 years later. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 69(12), 1295–1303. https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2012.271
- Knouse, L. E., Barkley, R. A., & Murphy, K. R. (2013). Does executive functioning (EF) predict depression in clinic-referred adults? EF tests vs. rating scales. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 145(2), 270–275. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2012.05.064
- Kuriyan, A. B., Pelham, W. E., Molina, B. S. G., Waschbusch, D. A., Gnagy, E. M., Sibley, M. H., Babinski, D. E., Walther, C., Cheong, J., Yu, J., & Kent, K. M. (2013). Young Adult Educational and Vocational Outcomes of Children Diagnosed with ADHD. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *41*(1), 27–41. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-012-9658-z
- Labrell, F., Câmara Costa, H., Perdry, H., & Dellatolas, G. (2020). The Time Knowledge
 Questionnaire for children. *Heliyon*, 6(2), e03331.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e03331
- Lagacé-Leblanc, J., Massé, L., & Rousseau, N. (2022). Academic Impairments Faced by College Students with Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder: A Qualitative Study. 35(2), 131– 144.

Lalasz, C. B., & Weigel, D. J. (2011). Understanding the relationship between gender and extradyadic relations: The mediating role of sensation seeking on intentions to engage in sexual infidelity. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 50(7), 1079–1083. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2011.01.029

Langberg, J. M., Dvorsky, M. R., Molitor, S. J., Bourchtein, E., Eddy, L. D., Smith, Z., Schultz,
B. K., & Evans, S. W. (2016). Longitudinal evaluation of the importance of homework assignment completion for the academic performance of middle school students with ADHD. *Journal of School Psychology*, 55, 27–38.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2015.12.004

- Langberg, J. M., Epstein, J. N., Girio, E. L., Becker, S. P., Vaughn, A. J., & Altaye, M. (2011).
 Materials Organization, Planning, and Homework Completion in Middle School Students with ADHD: Impact on Academic Performance. *School Mental Health*, *3*(2), 93–101.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s12310-011-9052-y
- Linden-Carmichael, A. N., & Lanza, S. T. (2018). Drinking Patterns of College- and Non-College-Attending Young Adults: Is High-Intensity Drinking Only a College
 Phenomenon? Substance Use & Misuse, 53(13), 2157–2164.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/10826084.2018.1461224
- Lynam, D., Smith, G., Whiteside, S., & Cyders, M. (2006). *The UPPS-P: Assessing five personality pathways to impulsive behavior (Technical Report).*
- Maggs, J. L. (1997). Alcohol use and binge drinking as goal-directed action during the transition to postsecondary education. In *Health risks and developmental transitions during adolescence* (pp. 345–371). Cambridge University Press.

- Magid, V., & Colder, C. R. (2007). The UPPS Impulsive Behavior Scale: Factor structure and associations with college drinking. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 43(7), 1927– 1937. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2007.06.013
- Marcus, D. K., & Barry, T. D. (2011a). Does attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder have a dimensional latent structure? A taxometric analysis. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *120*(2), 427–442. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021405
- Marcus, D. K., & Barry, T. D. (2011b). Does attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder have a dimensional latent structure? A taxometric analysis. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *120*(2), 427–442. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021405
- Matthews, W. J., & Meck, W. H. (2014). Time perception: The bad news and the good. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews. Cognitive Science, 5(4), 429–446. https://doi.org/10.1002/wcs.1298
- Matthews, W. J., & Meck, W. H. (2016). Temporal cognition: Connecting subjective time to perception, attention, and memory. *Psychological Bulletin*, 142(8), 865–907. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000045
- Mioni, G., Stablum, F., Prunetti, E., & Grondin, S. (2016). Time perception in anxious and depressed patients: A comparison between time reproduction and time production tasks. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2016.02.047
- Mishra, P., Pandey, C. M., Singh, U., Gupta, A., Sahu, C., & Keshri, A. (2019). Descriptive statistics and normality tests for statistical data. *Annals of Cardiac Anaesthesia*, 22(1), 67–72. https://doi.org/10.4103/aca.ACA_157_18

- Mochrie, K. D., Whited, M. C., Cellucci, T., Freeman, T., & Corson, A. T. (2020). ADHD, depression, and substance abuse risk among beginning college students. *Journal of American College Health*, 68(1), 6–10. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2018.1515754
- Mongia, M., & Hechtman, L. (2012). Cognitive Behavior Therapy for Adults with Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder: A Review of Recent Randomized Controlled Trials.
 Current Psychiatry Reports, 14(5), 561–567. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-012-0303-x
- Moreira, D., Pinto, M., Almeida, F., & Barbosa, F. (2016). Time perception deficits in impulsivity disorders: A systematic review. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 27, 87–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2016.03.008
- Murphy, K. R., & Barkley, R. A. (2007). Occupational Functioning in Adults with ADHD. *The ADHD Report*, *15*(1), 6–10. https://doi.org/10.1521/adhd.2007.15.1.6
- Murray, M. P. (2006). Avoiding Invalid Instruments and Coping with Weak Instruments. *The Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 20(4), 111–132.
- Nejati, V., & Yazdani, S. (2020). Time perception in children with attention deficit–hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): Does task matter? A meta-analysis study. *Child Neuropsychology*, 26(7), 900–916. https://doi.org/10.1080/09297049.2020.1712347
- NIDA. (2021). Marijuana use at historic high among college-aged adults in 2020. https://nida.nih.gov/news-events/news-releases/2021/09/marijuana-use-at-historic-highamong-college-aged-adults-in-2020 on 2022, August 10
- Niermann, H. C. M., & Scheres, A. (2014). The relation between procrastination and symptoms of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) in undergraduate students. *International Journal of Methods in Psychiatric Research*, 23(4), 411–421.

Nugent, K., & Smart, W. (2014). Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in postsecondary students. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, 10, 1781–1791. https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S64136

Ocak, G., & Boyraz, S. (2016). Examination of the Relation between Academic Procrastination and Time Management Skills of Undergraduate Students in Terms of Some Variables. *Journal of Education and Training Studies*, 4(5), 76–84.

Osborne, J. (2014). Best Practices in Exploratory Factor Analysis.

- Paasche, C., Weibel, S., Wittmann, M., & Lalanne, L. (2019). Time perception and impulsivity:
 A proposed relationship in addictive disorders. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 106, 182–201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2018.12.006
- Petker, T., Ferro, M., Van Ameringen, M., Murphy, J., & MacKillop, J. (2021). Daily, but not occasional, cannabis use is selectively associated with more impulsive delay discounting and hyperactive ADHD symptoms in binge-drinking young adults. *Psychopharmacology*, 238(7), 1753–1763. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-021-05781-3
- Pollak, Y., Dekkers, T. J., Shoham, R., & Huizenga, H. M. (2019). Risk-Taking Behavior in Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD): A Review of Potential Underlying Mechanisms and of Interventions. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 21(5), 33. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-019-1019-y
- Pollak, Y., Shalit, R., & Aran, A. (2018). Risk taking and adult attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder: A gap between real life behavior and experimental decision making. *Psychiatry Research*, 259, 56–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2017.10.012
- Pratt, T. C., Cullen, F. T., Blevins, K. R., Daigle, L., & Unnever, J. D. (2002). The Relationship of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder to Crime and Delinquency: A Meta-Analysis.

International Journal of Police Science & Management, 4(4), 344–360. https://doi.org/10.1350/ijps.4.4.344.10873

- Prause, N., Janssen, E., & Hetrick, W. P. (2008). Attention and Emotional Responses to Sexual Stimuli and Their Relationship to Sexual Desire. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 37(6), 934–949. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-007-9236-6
- Prevatt, F., Proctor, B., Baker, L., Garrett, L., & Yelland, S. (2011). Time estimation abilities of college students with ADHD. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 15(7), 531–538. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054710370673

Ptáček, R., Vňuková, M., Děchtěrenko, F., Weissenberger, S., Kitzlerová, E., Ptáčková, H., & Anders, M. (2022). Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) and Time
Perception in Adults: Do Adults with Different ADHD Symptomatology Severity
Perceive Time Differently? Findings from the National Czech Study. *Medical Science Monitor: International Medical Journal of Experimental and Clinical Research*, 28, e936849. https://doi.org/10.12659/MSM.936849

Ptacek, R., Weissenberger, S., Braaten, E., Klicperova-Baker, M., Goetz, M., Raboch, J.,
Vnukova, M., & Stefano, G. B. (2019). Clinical Implications of the Perception of Time in
Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD): A Review. *Medical Science Monitor : International Medical Journal of Experimental and Clinical Research*, 25, 3918–3924.
https://doi.org/10.12659/MSM.914225

Quartier, V. (2008). Le développement de la temporalité: Théorie et instrument de mesure du temps notionnel chez l'enfant. [Temporality development: Theory and instrument to measure notional time in children.]. A.N.A.E. Approche Neuropsychologique Des Apprentissages Chez l'Enfant, 20(5[100]), 345–352.
- Radonovich, K. J., & Mostofsky, S. H. (2004). Duration judgments in children with ADHD suggest deficient utilization of temporal information rather than general impairment in timing. *Child Neuropsychology: A Journal on Normal and Abnormal Development in Childhood and Adolescence*, *10*(3), 162–172.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/09297040409609807
- Richards, T. L., Deffenbacher, J. L., Rosén, L. A., Barkley, R. A., & Rodricks, T. (2006).
 Driving Anger and Driving Behavior in Adults With ADHD. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, *10*(1), 54–64. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054705284244
- Rohacek, A. M., Firkey, M. K., Woolf-King, S. E., & Antshel, K. M. (2022). Moderation of Risks to Sexual Health by Substance Use in College Students With ADHD. *The Journal* of Clinical Psychiatry, 83(4), 41607. https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.21m14240
- Rohlfs, P., & Ramírez, J. M. (2006). Aggression and brain asymmetries: A theoretical review. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 11(3), 283–297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2005.09.001
- Rubia, K., Halari, R., Christakou, A., & Taylor, E. (2009). Impulsiveness as a timing disturbance: Neurocognitive abnormalities in attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder during temporal processes and normalization with methylphenidate. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *364*(1525), 1919–1931. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2009.0014
- Rubia, K., Noorloos, J., Smith, A., Gunning, B., & Sergeant, J. (2003). Motor timing deficits in community and clinical boys with hyperactive behavior: The effect of methylphenidate on motor timing. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *31*(3), 301–313. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1023233630774

- Salum, G. A., Sonuga-Barke, E., Sergeant, J., Vandekerckhove, J., Gadelha, A., Moriyama, T. S., Graeff-Martins, A. S., Manfro, G. G., Polanczyk, G., & Rohde, L. a. P. (2014).
 Mechanisms underpinning inattention and hyperactivity: Neurocognitive support for ADHD dimensionality. *Psychological Medicine*, 44(15), 3189–3201.
 https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291714000919
- Shipp, A. J., & Jansen, K. J. (2021). The "Other" Time: A Review of the Subjective Experience of Time in Organizations. *Academy of Management Annals*, 15(1), 299–334. https://doi.org/10.5465/annals.2018.0142
- Shoham, R., Sonuga-Barke, E. J. S., Aloni, H., Yaniv, I., & Pollak, Y. (2016). ADHD-associated risk taking is linked to exaggerated views of the benefits of positive outcomes. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 34833. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep34833
- Shoham, R., Sonuga-Barke, E., Yaniv, I., & Pollak, Y. (2019). ADHD Is Associated With a Widespread Pattern of Risky Behavior Across Activity Domains. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 1087054719875786. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054719875786
- Shoham, R., Sonuga-Barke, E., Yaniv, I., & Pollak, Y. (2020). What Drives Risky Behavior in ADHD: Insensitivity to its Risk or Fascination with its Potential Benefits? *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 1087054720950820. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054720950820
- Sjöwall, D., Roth, L., Lindqvist, S., & Thorell, L. B. (2013). Multiple deficits in ADHD:
 Executive dysfunction, delay aversion, reaction time variability, and emotional deficits. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines*, 54(6), 619–627.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12006

Slavin, M. (2013). Engagement and Appraisals of Risky Behaviors Among Repressors in a University Sample. *Theses, Dissertations and Culminating Projects*. https://digitalcommons.montclair.edu/etd/983

- Smith, A., Taylor, E., Rogers, J. W., Newman, S., & Rubia, K. (2002). Evidence for a pure time perception deficit in children with ADHD. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines*, 43(4), 529–542. https://doi.org/10.1111/1469-7610.00043
- Sonuga-Barke, E., Bitsakou, P., & Thompson, M. (2010). Beyond the dual pathway model: Evidence for the dissociation of timing, inhibitory, and delay-related impairments in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 49(4), 345–355. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2009.12.018
- Sonuga-Barke, E. J. S. (2003). The dual pathway model of AD/HD: An elaboration of neurodevelopmental characteristics. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 27(7), 593–604. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2003.08.005
- Sonuga-Barke, E. J., Saxton, T., & Hall, M. (1998). The role of interval underestimation in hyperactive children's failure to suppress responses over time. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 94(1), 45–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0166-4328(97)00168-x
- Sorrell, A. E., & Canu, W. H. (2018). Sluggish Cognitive Tempo and Temporal Processing: An Exploratory Examination of Association Using a Novel Measure. *The ADHD Report*, 26(7), 7–12. https://doi.org/10.1521/adhd.2018.26.7.7
- Stevens, M. C., Pearlson, G. D., Calhoun, V. D., & Bessette, K. L. (2018). Functional neuroimaging evidence for distinct neurobiological pathways in Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder. *Biological Psychiatry. Cognitive Neuroscience and Neuroimaging*, 3(8), 675–685. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpsc.2017.09.005

- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2007). Using multivariate statistics, 5th ed (pp. xxvii, 980).Allyn & Bacon/Pearson Education.
- Taş Dölek, G., Tugba Ozel-Kizil, E., Bastug, G., Baran, Z., & Colak, B. (2021). Impaired auditory and visual time reproduction in adult patients with attention deficit-hyperactivity disorder. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 43(2), 176–186. https://doi.org/10.1080/13803395.2021.1898549
- Thorell, L. B., Sjöwall, D., Mies, G. W., & Scheres, A. (2017). Quick Delay Questionnaire: Reliability, validity, and relations to functional impairments in adults with attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). *Psychological Assessment*, 29(10), 1261–1272. https://doi.org/10.1037/pas0000421
- Tiersma, K., Reichman, M., Popok, P. J., Nelson, Z., Barry, M., Elwy, A. R., Flores, E. J., Irwin, K. E., & Vranceanu, A.-M. (2022). The Strategies for Quantitative and Qualitative Remote Data Collection: Lessons From the COVID-19 Pandemic. *JMIR Formative Research*, 6(4), e30055. https://doi.org/10.2196/30055
- Toplak, M. E., Dockstader, C., & Tannock, R. (2006). Temporal information processing in
 ADHD: Findings to date and new methods. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 151(1),
 15–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2005.09.018
- Toplak, M. e., Rucklidge, J. j., Hetherington, R., John, S. c. f., & Tannock, R. (2003). Time perception deficits in attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder and comorbid reading difficulties in child and adolescent samples. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 44(6), 888–903. https://doi.org/10.1111/1469-7610.00173
- Toplak, M. E., West, R. F., & Stanovich, K. E. (2013). Practitioner review: Do performancebased measures and ratings of executive function assess the same construct? *Journal of*

Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines, *54*(2), 131–143. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12001

- Tuckman, B. W. (1991). The Development and Concurrent Validity of the Procrastination Scale. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 51(2), 473–480. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013164491512022
- Valko, L., Schneider, G., Doehnert, M., Müller, U., Brandeis, D., Steinhausen, H.-C., & Drechsler, R. (2010). Time processing in children and adults with ADHD. *Journal of Neural Transmission*, *117*(10), 1213–1228. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00702-010-0473-9
- Visser, S. N., Danielson, M. L., Bitsko, R. H., Holbrook, J. R., Kogan, M. D., Ghandour, R. M., Perou, R., & Blumberg, S. J. (2014). Trends in the parent-report of health care providerdiagnosed and medicated attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: United States, 2003-2011. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 53(1), 34-46.e2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2013.09.001
- von Wirth, E., Breuer, D., Mandler, J., Schürmann, S., & Döpfner, M. (2022). Prediction of Educational Attainment and Occupational Functioning in Young Adults With a Childhood Diagnosis of ADHD: Results from the Cologne Adaptive Multimodal Treatment (CAMT) Study. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 26(7), 1018–1032. https://doi.org/10.1177/10870547211045740
- Wagner, B., Riggs, P., & Mikulich-Gilbertson, S. (2015). The importance of distribution-choice in modeling substance use data: A comparison of negative binomial, beta binomial, and zero-inflated distributions. *The American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse*, 41(6), 489–497. https://doi.org/10.3109/00952990.2015.1056447

- Walg, M., Hapfelmeier, G., El-Wahsch, D., & Prior, H. (2017). The faster internal clock in ADHD is related to lower processing speed: WISC-IV profile analyses and time estimation tasks facilitate the distinction between real ADHD and pseudo-ADHD. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 26(10), 1177–1186. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-017-0971-5
- Walg, M., Oepen, J., & Prior, H. (2015). Adjustment of Time Perception in the Range of Seconds and Milliseconds: The Nature of Time-Processing Alterations in Children With ADHD. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 19(9), 755–763. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054712454570
- Wang, S., Zhou, Y., Yu, S., Ran, L.-W., Liu, X.-P., & Chen, Y.-F. (2017). Acceptance and Commitment Therapy and Cognitive–Behavioral Therapy as Treatments for Academic Procrastination: A Randomized Controlled Group Session. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 27(1), 48–58. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049731515577890
- Watkins, M. W. (2018). Exploratory Factor Analysis: A Guide to Best Practice. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 44(3), 219–246. https://doi.org/10.1177/0095798418771807
- Weissenberger, S., Schonova, K., Büttiker, P., Fazio, R., Vnukova, M., Stefano, G. B., & Ptacek,
 R. (2021). Time Perception is a Focal Symptom of Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity
 Disorder in Adults. *Medical Science Monitor: International Medical Journal of Experimental and Clinical Research*, 27, e933766.
 https://doi.org/10.12659/MSM.933766
- Weyandt, L., DuPaul, G. J., Verdi, G., Rossi, J. S., Swentosky, A. J., Vilardo, B. S., O'Dell, S.M., & Carson, K. S. (2013). The Performance of College Students with and withoutADHD: Neuropsychological, Academic, and Psychosocial Functioning. *Journal of*

Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment, *35*(4), 421–435. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10862-013-9351-8

Weyandt, L. L., & DuPaul, G. (2006). ADHD in College Students. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, *10*(1), 9–19. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054705286061

Weyandt, L. L., & Dupaul, G. J. (2008). ADHD in college students: Developmental findings. Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews, 14(4), 311–319. https://doi.org/10.1002/ddrr.38

- White, D. J., Ovsiew, G. P., Rhoads, T., Resch, Z. J., Lee, M., Oh, A. J., & Soble, J. R. (2022).
 The Divergent Roles of Symptom and Performance Validity in the Assessment of
 ADHD. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 26(1), 101–108.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054720964575
- White, H. R., Stevens, A. K., Hayes, K., & Jackson, K. M. (2020). Changes in Alcohol Consumption Among College Students Due to COVID-19: Effects of Campus Closure and Residential Change. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs*, 81(6), 725–730. https://doi.org/10.15288/jsad.2020.81.725
- Whiteside, S. P., & Lynam, D. R. (2001). The Five Factor Model and impulsivity: Using a structural model of personality to understand impulsivity. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 30(4), 669–689. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8869(00)00064-7
- Wilson, L. C., & Scarpa, A. (2011). The link between sensation seeking and aggression: A metaanalytic review. *Aggressive Behavior*, *37*(1), 81–90. https://doi.org/10.1002/ab.20369
- Wittmann, M., & Lehnhoff, S. (2005). Age effects in perception of time. *Psychological Reports*, 97(3), 921–935. https://doi.org/10.2466/pr0.97.3.921-935

- Wittmann, M., Leland, D. S., Churan, J., & Paulus, M. P. (2007). Impaired time perception and motor timing in stimulant-dependent subjects. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 90(2–3), 183–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2007.03.005
- Wittmann, M., Otten, S., Schötz, E., Sarikaya, A., Lehnen, H., Jo, H.-G., Kohls, N., Schmidt, S.,
 & Meissner, K. (2015). Subjective expansion of extended time-spans in experienced meditators. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *5*, 1586. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.01586
- Wittmann, M., & Paulus, M. P. (2008). Decision making, impulsivity and time perception. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *12*(1), 7–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2007.10.004
- Wood, W. L. M., Lewandowski, L. J., & Lovett, B. J. (2021). Profiles of Diagnosed and Undiagnosed College Students Meeting ADHD Symptom Criteria. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 25(5), 646–656. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054718824991
- Yang, B., Chan, R. C. K., Zou, X., Jing, J., Mai, J., & Li, J. (2007). Time perception deficit in children with ADHD. *Brain Research*, 1170, 90–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2007.07.021
- Zakay, D., & Block, R. A. (1997). Temporal cognition. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 6(1), 12–16. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8721.ep11512604
- Zakay, D., & Block, R. A. (2004). Prospective and retrospective duration judgments: An executive-control perspective. *Acta Neurobiologiae Experimentalis*, *64*(3), 319–328.
- Zheng, Q., Cheng, Y. Y., Sonuga-Barke, E., & Shum, K. K. (2022). Do Executive Dysfunction,
 Delay Aversion, and Time Perception Deficit Predict ADHD Symptoms and Early
 Academic Performance in Preschoolers. *Research on Child and Adolescent Psychopathology*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-022-00937-x

Zheng, Q., Wang, X., Chiu, K. Y., & Shum, K. K.-M. (2020). Time Perception Deficits in Children and Adolescents with ADHD: A Meta-analysis. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 1087054720978557. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054720978557

Curriculum Vitae

Ashley Schiros, B.S. Clinical Psychology Doctoral Student 210 West Division Street, Apartment 47 Syracuse, NY 13204 (315) 520 - 0607 arohacek@syr.edu

Education

Doctoral Program, Clinical Psychology (APA accredited)	2020-present
Syracuse University, Syracuse, NY	2016-2019
Major Advisor: Kevin M. Antshel, Ph.D.	
GPA: 4.000	
Bachelor of Science, Neuroscience	
Utica College, Utica, NY	
Cumulative GPA: 3.960	
Summa Cum Laude	

Clinical Experience

Graduate Student Clinician, Syracuse University Psychological Services Center Present

Clinic Director: Afton Kapuscinski, Ph.D.

Supervisors: Katie Kidwell, Ph.D., Aaron Gleason, Ph.D., Leslie Gellis, Ph.D., Kevin Antshel, Ph.D.

- Provide individual psychotherapy using evidence-based cognitive behavioral treatments in an outpatient mental health clinic for children, adolescents, and adults
- Receive supervision in cognitive behavioral therapy and motivational interviewing
- Administer, score, and interpret psychological tests of cognitive and executive functioning, personality and symptom inventories, and behavioral assessments for adults, adolescents and children (e.g., WAIS-IV, WISC-V, WIAT-III, ADOS-2, MMPI-3, PAI, BASC-3, WHODAS, AUDIT, CUDIT, GAD-7, PHQ-9, PSS)

• Provide comprehensive verbal and written feedback to clients and their families, including diagnostic impressions and treatment recommendations through integrated reports

Registered Behavior Technician

2019 - 2020

ADHD & Autism Psychological Services and Advocacy, Utica, NY

- Provided direct care to children aged 2-15 with ADHD and Autism Spectrum Disorder
- Implemented ABA treatment programs, including NET, DTT, and desensitization
- Completed documentation and data collection on patient symptoms, challenging behaviors, and adaptive skills
- Extended teaching of basic ABA techniques to parents and bridged clinic services with home-care

Research Experience

Graduate Research Assistant, ADHD Lifespan, Treatment, and Education Lab Present

Syracuse University, Syracuse NY

Principle Investigator: Kevin M. Antshel, Ph.D.

- Design a novel research study on cognitive and self-report measures of temporal processing in ADHD
- Analyze qualitative and quantitative data on impact of COVID-19 on adolescents with ADHD
- Present data and research projects related to ADHD at national conferences
- Participate in weekly laboratory meetings and journal club to stay up-to-date on current ADHD literature

Utica College, Utica, NY

May 2016 – December 2019

January 2018 – March 2019

Research Assistant to Dr. Amy Lindsey

- Involved in experimental design from literature review to IACUC and grant approval
- Calculated visual angle of salamanders in a prey-capture model of vision
- Observed circadian rhythm of sighted, blind, and hybrid Mexican tetras
- Conducted assessments of visual acuity in Mexican tetras with optomotor drum
- Utilized MatLab to create sinusoidal gratings and contrast sensitivity functions
- Analyzed data and created graphs using Microsoft Excel and SPSS

Utica College, Utica, NY

Research Assistant to Dr. John Schwoebel

- Involved in experimental design from literature review to IRB approval
- Examined the efficacy of implementing a teaching method to reduce cognitive biases in decision-making
- Created a classroom lecture that defined cognitive biases and exemplified their prevalence in daily life
- Designed an assessment to measure the presence of cognitive bias in decision-making
- Analyzed data and created graphs using Microsoft Excel and SPSS

- Rohacek, A., Firkey, M.K., Woolf-King, S.E., Ansthel, K.M. (2022). Sex, Drugs, and ADHD: Sexual Health and Moderators of Risk in College Students. Poster presented at the American Professional Society of ADHD and Related Disorders Conference. Tucson, AZ.
- Rother, Y., Rohacek, A., Stevens, A.E., Willcutt, E.G., Flory, K., Canu, H., & Antshel, K.M.
 (2022). College during COVID-19: The pandemic's effect on college adjustment in first year students with and without ADHD. Presented at the 56th annual meeting of the Association for Behavioral and Cognitive Therapies, New York City, NY.
- Taylor, L., Orantes, D.M., Rohacek, A., Antshel, K.M. (2021). Understanding and Improving ADHD Symptom Recall: An Investigation of Temperament and Childhood Symptom Recall Over Time. Poster presented at the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry Virtual Annual Meeting.
- Jhawar, N., **Rohacek, A.**, London, A., & Antshel, K. (2021). A mixed-methods analysis of the impact of COVID-19 on adolescents with ADHD and their families. Poster presented at the American Professional Society of ADHD and Related Disorders Virtual Conference.
- Rohacek, A., Smith, B., & Lindsey A. (2019). Psychophysical assessment of contrast sensitivity functions in surface and hybrid Mexican tetras. Poster presented at Vision Sciences Society Annual Meeting. St. Pete Beach, FL.
- Rohacek, A. & Schwoebel, J. (2019). Your decisions matter! Teaching intervention improves decision making. Poster presented at Eastern Psychological Association Annual Meeting. New York City, NY.
- Rohacek, A. (2018). Seeing our decisions anew. Round-table presentation at Northeast Regional Honors Conference. Providence, RI.
- Rohacek, A. & Lindsey A. (2017). Terrestrial phase tiger salamanders have increased visual acuity compared to aquatic phase tiger salamanders. Poster presented at Association for Psychological Science Conference. Boston, MA.

- Rohacek, A. M., Firkey, M. K., Woolf-King, S. E., & Antshel, K. M. (2022). Moderation of Risks to Sexual Health by Substance Use in College Students With ADHD. *The Journal* of clinical psychiatry, 83(4), 21m14240. <u>https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.21m14240</u>
- Rohacek, A., Baxter, E. L., Sullivan, W. E., Roane, H. S., & Antshel, K. M. (2022). A Preliminary Evaluation of a Brief Behavioral Parent Training for Challenging Behavior in Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, 1–11. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-022-05493-3

Publications (in press)

- Rohacek, A., London, A. S., & Antshel, K.M. (2022). Gender Differences in Adults with ADHD. In J. L.Matson (Ed.), *Clinical Handbook of ADHD Assessment and Treatment Across the Lifespan*. Springer Nature.
- Orantes, D.,* **Rohacek, A.**,* & Antshel, K.M. (2022). "Chapter 20: ADHD, Distractibility and ABA." Handbook of ABA for Children with Autism: Clinical Guide to Assessment and Treatment, edited by Matson, J.L., In press, Springer Nature.

*denotes equal contributions

Publications (under review)

- Rohacek, A., Rother, Y. Wilcutt, E.G., Flory, K.H., Canu, W.H., & Antshel, K.M. (2021). College During COVID-19: The Pandemic's Effect on College Adjustment in First Year Students with ADHD. Under review, Department of Psychology, Syracuse University, Syracuse, New York.
- Rohacek, A. & Antshel, K.M. (2022). Young, Restless, and Underrepresented: A Review of Psychosocial Interventions for Adolescent ADHD and Suggestions for Improving Treatment for Girls. In preparation, Department of Psychology, Syracuse University, Syracuse, New York.
- Rohacek, A., & Antshel, K.M. (2022). The Relationship Between ADHD, Eating Disorders, and Suicidality Among College Students. In preparation, Department of Psychology, Syracuse University, Syracuse, New York.

Teaching Assistant, PSY395 Abnormal Psychology Current

Syracuse University, Syracuse, NY

- First point of communication for students in this course
- Managing course website, including uploading course materials and managing submission portals for student work
- Grading of all student work, including exams and research papers
- Assist in the development of lectures, exams, and assignments
- Hold exam review sessions and weekly office hours
- Meet with students during office hours and by appointment to facilitate learning

Guest Lecturer, PSY 395 Abnormal Psychology

Spring 2022

Syracuse University, Syracuse, NY

- Guest lecture (1) on clinical presentation, etiology, diagnosis and treatment of eating disorders
- Guest lecture (1) on psychotherapy and biological treatments of mental disorders

Guest Lecturer, PSY 395 Abnormal Psychology

Fall 2021

Syracuse University, Syracuse, NY

- Guest lectures (3) on diagnosis and treatment of neurodevelopmental and childhood disorders and trajectories in child psychology
- Instructor of Record, PSY395 Abnormal Psychology

Summer 2021

Syracuse University, Syracuse, NY

- Presented instruction on key concepts of abnormal psychology and DSM-5 criteria for psychiatric diagnoses
- Facilitated class discussions, answered student questions, and provided active learning opportunities
- Developed a class syllabus and maintained course policies
- Prepared lectures, exams, and student assignments
- Graded student assignments and exams and provided feedback on written work

Guest Lecturer, PSY205 Introduction to Human Behavior Spring 2021

Syracuse University, Syracuse, NY

• Guest lecture on personality disorders

Teaching Assistant, PSY205 Introduction to Human Behavior Spring 2021

Fall 2020 -

Fall 2021 -

Syracuse University, Syracuse, NY

- Lectured and facilitated discussions on key concepts of introductory psychology
- Provided grading and feedback to students on all course assignments
- Assisted in creating recitation lectures and activities
- Enhanced student learning via office hours and frequent email communications

Service

Co-president, Psychology Action Committee (PAC) Current

Syracuse University, Syracuse NY

- Organize and run PAC meetings geared towards advocating for graduate student rights
- Host PAC introduction seminar at first-year student orientation
- Provide educational, general well-being, and professional development resources for psychology graduate students
- Hold elections for PAC leadership positions

• Strengthen department collaboration by organizing inter-area events and programming Spring 2021

Panelist, Utica College

Utica, NY

- Panelist for Clinical Pathways, a presentation on graduate programs and career trajectories in clinical psychology
- Provided insight on the application process and graduate school experience
- Offered mentorship on choosing and applying to clinical psychology doctoral programs Secretary, Psychology Action Committee Fall 2020 -

Spring 2021

Syracuse University, Syracuse NY

- Attended PAC meetings geared towards advocating for graduate student rights
- Maintained and disseminated meeting minutes

Programming Assistant, Womyn's Resource Center 2018-2019

Utica College, Utica NY

- Organized campus events promoting diversity, inclusion, and female empowerment
- Engaged in community outreach and service activities to support non-for-profits
- Disseminated information about sexual health, reproductive rights, domestic violence, racism,
- Worked to foster a safe-space for individuals to obtain resources when in need

Volunteer, NeuroCare Unit, Sitrin Healthcare Center

Summer 2017

Summer 2021 -

New Hartford, NY

- Shadowed head neuropsychologist Dr. Lorin Williams on unit with HD and ALS patients
- Observed cognitive assessment tests be performed
- Scored cognitive assessment tests and learned basic psychometrics

Workshops, Certifications, and Trainings

- **Trauma-Focused Cognitive Behavior Therapy** nationally accredited webinar and 3day in-person training to conduct TF-CBT
- Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule-2 Training Sunfield Center for Autism,
- ADHD and Behavioral Health training to administer and score ADOS-2, 13.5 contact hours
- National Register's Associate Certificate Program on Clinical Suicidology 4.5 contact hours
- **Body Project Training** 6 contact hours, training on how to conduct Body Project groups and evidence base for Body Project effectiveness
- **Qb Training** 3 hour training on evidence base, software, and administration of the Qb Test, continuous performance task for ADHD diagnosis
- **Safe Zone Workshop** 2 hour training on LGBTQ+ identifies, improving inclusivity for LGBTQ+ individuals, and recognizing ways to be more effective advocates
- Managing Biases Training 2 hour training on identifying biases and managing microaggressions in professional settings
- **Psychology Action Committee** Co-president (Summer '21 present)
- **Psychological Action Committee** Secretary (Fall '20-Spring '21)
- American Professional Society of ADHD and Related Disorders Student Member
- Psi Chi, the International Honor Society in Psychology Member